4001 840

The University of Chicago

AL-GHAZALI'S AYYUHA 'L-WALAD],

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE FACULTY IN CANDIDACY FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF OLD TESTAMENT LITERATURE AND INTERPRETATION 1930

By GEORGE HENRY SCHERER

> THE AMERICAN PRESS BEIRUT, SYRIA 1983

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

	Al-Ghazâli's Spiritual Pilgrimage	Page 3
	The Greater Value of His Later Writings	7
	The Peculiar Worth of Ayyuha 'l-Walad	12
	Summary	15
	PART ONE — MANUSCRIPTS AND TEXT	
I.	List of Manuscripts and Printed Texts Consulted	19
II.	Characteristics of the Manuscripts	27
II.	The Arabic Text, with Collation of Typical Variant	
	Readings	33
	PART TWO — THE TRANSLATION	
	The Translation	51
	Appendices	
I.	Appended Notes	81
	A. Al-Ghazâli's "The Vitalizing of the Sciences of	
	Religion"	81
	B. The Wonders of the Heart	84
	C. The "Way" of the Moslem Mystic	90
II.	Chronological Table	97
II.	Table of Abbreviations	
V.	Cross-Reference Key to the Arabic Text and the	
	Translation	103
v·	Bibliography	105

INTRODUCTION

INTRODUCTION

AL-GHAZÂLI'S SPIRITUAL PILGRIMAGE.

A Moslem tradition says that at the beginning of each century God sends a renewer of the religious life. While there is difference of opinion concerning the receiver of this honor in certain centuries, there is universal agreement that for the fifth century there can be only one name proposed—Abi-Hâmad Moḥammed b. Moḥammed al-Ghazâli.¹ In fact, Ibn al-Subki2 says: "If there had been a prophet after Mohammed, it surely would have been al-Ghazâli." Another tradition3 related by Ibn al-Subki is to the effect that the Shaykh Abu 'l-Hasan al-Shâdhili4 saw the Prophet, in a dream, and that he was challenging Moses and Jesus with the Imam al-Ghazali, and he asked them, "Is there among your peoples any righteous man like him?" And they replied, "No." He has been universally assigned by later Moslems first rank as interpreter of sacred law, theologian, philosopher and scientist. Although he never became a thoroughgoing mystic, yet he brought Sûfîism5 into an accredited place in orthodox Islâm. With his keenness of intellect, depth of learning, and

¹ For biographical material, see the Bibliography. For a discussion of the spelling of the name, see article by Macdonald, in JRAS London, 1902, pp. 18-22, where the author advocates the spelling al-Ghazzâli. But in his article in the Encyclopedia of Islam, Macdonald adopts the spelling with a single z. Cf. also Zwemer, footnote

² Abu Naşr 'Abd al-Wahhâb b. 'Ali b. 'Abd-al-Kâfi Tâj al-Dîn al-Subki, an eminent canon lawyer, born in Cairo 727/1327, d. in Damascus 771/1370. Quoted in Ithâf al-Sâdah, v. i, p. 9., by Mohammed al-Husayni al-Zabîdi, known as Al-Sayyid Murtada, (d. 1791), Cairo, 1311 A. H. Al-Sayyid Murtada quotes liberally from al-Subki's Tabaqât al-Shâfa'îyah.

³ Tabaqât al-Shâfa'îyah, v. iv., p. 131.

⁴ Abu 'l-Hasan al-Shâdhili, a Western Moslem Mystic, called by Ibn al-Subki "the lord of his generation and the blessing of his age," d. 1258.

⁵ See Appended Note on The "Way" of the Moslem Mystic.

breadth of experience, he was never carried away by the purely speculative and theoretical; his whole purpose in life became to search out truth wherever the quest led him, to live in absolute loyalty to it himself, and then to make religion for both leaders and populace a living, vital matter of individual experience and practice. He recognized that there were whole realms of thought and fields of investigation into which only the few could penetrate, and for these he still remains a counsellor and guide. But he was essentially practical, and his constant purpose was to vitalize religion so that it should become neither formal adherence to orthodox doctrine, nor philosophical speculation suited to the learned alone, but a matter of daily devotion and life.6 So complete was his search for truth that he even went so far as to assert that the sincere seeker of truth, even though he be a Jew or a Christian, might gain Paradise, while on the other hand the formal and orthodox Moslem, not committed to this search, might lose the coveted boon.

It is not possible here to enter into a discussion of the life of al-Ghazâli, or of his contribution to theological and philosophical thought; it must suffice to call attention briefly to his religious struggle, so that we may appreciate the uniqueness of his spiritual pilgrimage. And first, as giving a clue to his attitude throughout the whole of his life, I translate from his own spiritual autobiography, a small section: 7

From the days of my adolescence, before the age of twenty and until now when I am over fifty, I have dashed into the tumult of this deep sea, and have plunged into its difficulties, the diving of the fearless, not the diving of the cautious coward; and I have penetrated deeply into every darkness; I have attacked every obscurity; I have plunged into every dilemma; I have examined the dogma of every party and uncovered the secrets of the way of every sect, in order to distinguish between the right and the wrong, and between the traditionalist and the heretic. I do not meet any Bâțani except I long to study his secrets, nor any Zâhiri except I desire to know the total of his

disclosures, nor any philosopher except I purpose the attainment of the real essence of his philosophy, nor any theologian except I endeavor to study the object of his teaching and disputation, nor any Sûfi except I crave to become acquainted with the secret of his mysticism, nor any worshipper except I watch attentively what gain follows from his worship, nor any unbelieving atheist except I spy upon him to perceive the causes of his unbelief and atheism. And the thirst to comprehend realities has been my habit and practice from the earliest period of my life.

This thirst to comprehend realities led him first to discard authority () as a basis of knowledge; then after a brief period of philosophical scepticism, into an examination of the doctrines and tenets of the four parties he found in the Islam of his day, namely: the scholastic theologians; the philosophers; the Ta'lîmites, who held that to reach truth one must have an infallible living Imâm, or teacher; and finally the Mystics or Şûfis. He devoted several years to the study of these sects, summing up his conclusions in each case in various writings which are still recognized as authoritative. The outcome was that he became convinced that only in the way of the Şûfis did there lie any hope of reaching ultimate truth.

And now he faced the great spiritual crisis of his life. 10 He was an Imâm in Baghdâd, holding a position of renown and glory, surrounded by students who honored and respected him. But he was too honest and clear visioned to think he could retain his position and at the same time follow the Mystic way; this was not the way of abstract knowledge, but the way of experience, not of instruction, but of practice. But how could he renounce all he had attained in life, and now when he was nearing forty, start on his perilous venture? And yet, he says:

9 Probably the following writings are the product of this period of his life:

Growing out of his study of theology
al-Risâlat al-Qudsiya
al-Iqtisâd fi 'l-l'tiqâd
Growing out of his study of philosophy
Maqâşid al-Falâsifa
Tahâfut al-Falâsifa

Growing out of his study of the Ta'lîmites

al-Muztazhiri fi radd 'ala'l-Bâţinîya

Hujjat al-Haqq

al-Qisţâs al-Mustaqîm

Mawâḥim al-Bâţinîya

⁶ The charge that he taught secret esoteric doctrines has been ably refuted by Macdonald (JAOS, pp. 125 ff). Nor do I agree with Zwemer (p. 234) that "the teaching of al-Ghazali was intended not for the masses, but for the initiates." For his return to public life in Naysabur was inspired by his realization that the masses were neglecting religion because of the indifference of their leaders, and his hope that he could reach the masses through a revitalized leadership. (See al-Munqidh min al-Dalâl, pp. 37 f.). And he wrote Badâyat al-Hidâyah for the masses. See the sectionon "The Greater Value of His Later Writings," in this Introduction.

⁸ This period, according to his own words, lasted only two months, and is surely over-emphasized by Macdonald.

¹⁰ See Appended Note on The "Way" of the Moslem Mystic, for a translation of an additional section of the Munqidh.

I looked at my works..... and lo I was striving after knowledge that was unimportant and useless with regard to the world to come. Then I considered my purpose in study, and lo, it was not sincerely for the face of Allah,11 but its instigator and mover was search for glory and the spread of renown. And I became convinced that I was on the brink of a crumbling bank, and that I was looking upon the fire of hell, if I did not labor to change my condition.

The struggle continued for six months,12 with al-Ghazáli saying one day that the whole matter was folly and a delusion of Satan, the next that there was no escape from putting his new conviction to the test; the conflict between the attractions of this world and the summons of the other world was intense. Finally.

"the matter passed beyond the bound of choice to compulsion, in that God locked my tongue till it was bound, so that I could not teach."

He became severely ill, so that the doctors said,

"This is a matter arising in the mind which has come to affect the physical organism, and it can be healed only by rest of mind from the case which has befallen it."

So at last he made the surrender, and turned to God,

"and he 'who answers the driven when he calls'13 made it easy for me to withdraw from honor and wealth and family and friends."

So al-Ghazâli resigned from his position as teacher and Imâra, and left Baghdad, announcing his intention of making the pilgrimage to Mecca. Then follows a period of ten years of withdrawal from public life, during which time he visited Syria, Palestine, Arabia and Egypt. He began to put into practice the life of the Sûfi, giving himself entirely to the thought of God. I cannot pause to describe his experiences in detail. Suffice it to say that he found peace, and came to the firm conviction that only in the path of the Mystic lay the way to God. And he says:

"And I know for a certainty, "that the Sufis alone walk in the way of God the Exalted, and that their mode of life is the best mode, their path the most sure path, and their characteris-

11 That is, for the sake of Allah alone. The meaning of "the face of Allah" is fully discussed in Macdonald, Aspects of Islam, pp. 186 ff., p. 201 f.

tics the purest of characteristics."

Here is portrayed the struggle of a soul to find God, so real and vivid as to leave no doubt of its sincerity and depth. His conversion was real14 and its effects lasting. The impression made on one who knew him after his return to Naysabur is told in the following words: 15

However much he met of contradiction and attack and slander, it made no impression on him, and he did not trouble himself to answer his assailants. I visited him many times, and it was no bare conjecture of mine that he, in spite of what I saw in him in time past of maliciousness and roughness towards people, and how he looked upon them contemptuously through his being led astray by what God had granted him of ease in word and thought and expression, and through the seeking of rank and position, had come to be the very opposite and was purified of these strains. And I used to think that he was wrapping himself in the garment of pretense, but I realized after investigation that the thing was the opposite of what I had thought, and that the man had recovered after being mad.

After spending ten years in retirement, al-Ghazâli returned to public life in Naysabur again for a short time, but soon retired to Tûs where he had charge of a monastery and training school for Sûfis, until his death occurred in 505 A.H. (IIII A.D.). Every moment of his life was filled with study and devotion and instructing seekers after truth in the way in which he had himself found truth and peace.

Surely even such a brief sketch as this is sufficient to justify the conclusion that anything from his pen is worthy of the study of anyone who desires to know Islâm at its best. The sincerity and reality of his spiritual pilgrimage mark him as one of the saints of all time, worthy of the study of any seeker after God, in any land.

THE GREATER VALUE OF HIS LATER WRITINGS.

While any book of al-Ghazâli is worthy of study, a peculiar value attaches to those produced in his later years, for they can reasonably be supposed to represent his conclusions and reflect his spiritual experiences in his search for truth. If his earlier works are of value as summarizing the tenets and doctrines of the various theological and philosophical

15 SM vol. I, p. 8, quoting the account of al-Subki (v. iv, pp. 108-109). I copy the translation of Macdonald, JAOS 1899, p. 105.

¹² The conflict left so deep an impression on his mind that when he wrote the Munqidh, nearly fifteen years later, he still remembered the date when the struggle began, and fixes it as the month of Rajab, 488, 13 Qur'an 27:63.

¹⁴ The story is told (al-Subki, v. iv. p. 104) that while in Damascus he took upon himself the humble task of cleaning the ablution tanks in the Sûfî monastery there-he who had been the great Imam behind whom thousands had ranked themselves in Baghdad to perform the daily prayers.

schools of his day, with his own judgment upon their insufficiency, his later works present the philosophy of life and the "end of the matter" after "all has been heard". With reasonable certainty we can place after his flight from Baghdad the following:

al-Mustașfa sî 'Uşûl al-Fiqh, completed on 6th of Muharram 503.17 al-Mankhûl18 sî 'Uşûl al-Fiqh

Jawâhir al-Qur'ân

Ihyâ' 'Ulûm al-Dîn, and the books derived or abridged from it; such as, al-Arba'în, al-Imlâ', Qawâ'id al-'Aqâ'id, etc.

∫ Kîmiya al-Sa'âdah Naşîhat al-Mulûk Badâyat al-Hidâyah Mîzân al-'Amal Mishkât al-'Anwâr al-'Asmâ' al-Husna Ayyuha 'l-Walad Fâtihat al-'Ulûm

Khulâşat al-Taşânîf fî 'l-Taşawwuf, written near the end of his life al-Munqidh min al-Dalâl, written after he was fifty Minhâj al-'Abidîn. his last work.

A cursory glance at the above list shows them to be of two sorts. First, there are three books dealing with the Qur'ân and jurisprudence (النقه); he had written on this subject before, but his new certainty with regard to verity, and his new conviction of the need of applying the teachings of the Apostle to the daily life of the Muslim impelled him to write again on this subject. Perhaps we find a clue to his reason in the Ihyâ',19 where he compares the sciences of jurisprudence (اللغة):

The former (النه) is more honorable than the latter for three reasons; first, because it is a religious science, since it is derived from prophecy in contra-distinction to that, since it is not a religious science; second, because no one who is travelling

19 Ihyâ', v. i, p. 18.

the "way" of the future world can possibly dispense with it, neither the well nor the sick, while as to medicine, only the sick are in need of it, and they are the minority; third, because the scienc of jurisprudence is near to the science of tuture things, since it is a consideration of the deeds of the members of the body, and the source of these deeds and their origin is the qualities of the heart; and the praiseworthy deeds originate in praiseworthy character leading to safety in the future life, and plameworthy deeds originate in blameworthy character; and the connection between the members of the body and the heart is not hidden; 20 but health and sickness have their origin in the purification of the humors and the temperament, and they pertain to the qualities of the body, not to the qualities of the heart.

Second, the other books in the group treat almost entirely of Sufiism and the way of the Mystic. In order to give an idea of the practical character of these writings, I give here the Table of Contents of two of these books, and a summary of the others.²¹

Fâtiḥat al-'Ulûm 22

1	. The Excellence of Knowledge	2	
2	. The Validity of the Purpose in Seeking Knowledge	8	
3	3. The Marks of Those Learned in the Things of the Wor		
·	and Those Learned in the Things of the Future	17	
4	. The Divisions of Knowledge	35	
	Important—Appointed for all, and		
	Appointed for some 23		
•	Non-important—Praiseworthy and Blameworthy		
. 5	. The Conditions of Debate, and Its Evils	47	
6	. The Conduct and Obligations of Teacher and Taught	53	_
7	YYY	62	
8		79	
Mîzâr	al-'Amal 24		
I	ukewarmness in seeking Happiness is Folly	3	
	ukewarmness in seeking Faith has also in it Folly	4	

²⁰ See Appended Note on The Wonders of the Heart.

¹⁶ Eccl. 12:13.17 So Ibn Khallikân v. ii, p. 622.

¹⁸ So in SM v. i, p. 42. and al-Subki v. iii, p. 116. Macdonald (JAOS p. 106) spells it Al-Manhùl, Zwemer (p. 301) Al Manqûl!! Al-Subki says this was written during the life of the Imâm al-Haramayn.

²¹ See also Appended Note on The Vitalizing of the Sciences of Religion.

²² Cairo edition, A. H. 1322.

²³ For an explanation of these terms, see footnote 3, section xxiv of the Translation,

²⁴ Cairo edition, A. H. 1342.

The Way to Happiness is Knowledge and Work	14
About Purifying the Soul, and its Power and Characteristics	16
The Binding of the Powers of the Soul, part to part	25
The Relation of Work to Knowledge, and Its Leading to	Ū
the Happiness upon which the true Sûfis agree	30
The Difference between the Way of the Sûfis, and others,	•
in regard to Knowledge	34
The Preferable of the Two Ways	38
The Sort of Knowledge and Work leading to Paradise	41
A Parable of the Soul and its Powers	45
The Steps of the Soul in Warring against Lust, and the	
difference between the Sign of Passion and the Sign of	
Intelligence	48
The Possibility of Changing the Character	52
The Complete Method of Changing the Character, and	
Curing Lust	54
The Collection of Virtues whose Attainment leads to	
Happiness	57
Analysis of the Way leading to the Training of Character	60
The Sources of Virtues	64
What is included under the Virtue of Wisdom, and its	
Opposite Vices	71
What is included under the Virtue of Bravery	72
What is included under the Virtue of Chastity, and its	
Opposite Vices	75
Motives for Seeking Good Things, and what Turns Them	_
away	80
Varieties of Good Things and Happinesses	84
The Object of Happiness and its Degrees	90
What is Praiseworthy and Blameworthy in the Passions	
of the Appetite and Sex and Anger	94
The Honor of the Intellect and Knowledge and Teaching	105
The Necessity that Teaching show forth the Honor of the Intellect	
Varieties of Intellect	109
The Duties of Teacher and Taught in regard to the	111
Sciences causing Happiness	
The Receiving of Wealth, and Responsibilities following	114
its Acquisition	6
Classes of People with regard to Religion, and their	136
division into Those engrossed in the World, and	
Those contented with religion, and Those trying to	
combine the two	T43
	-4-7

The Way of Overcoming Grief in the World	147
The Way of Excluding Fear from Death	151
Sign of the First Station of Those Travelling toward Allah	155
The Reality of Nearness to Allah	159
The Meaning of 'Madhhab' and the Differences among	
people about it. Conclusion: There is no refuge	
except in freedom of thought and in vision	161

Al-Asmâ' al-Ḥusna deals with the beautiful names of God (the ninety-nine traditional names of Allah), with the purpose of demonstrating that the highest happiness for the believer lies in imitating these attributes of God.

Mishkât al-'Anwâr is a discussion and esoteric explanation of the Light verse in the Qur'ân, "God is the light of the heavens and the earth. The similitude of His light is as it were a niche where is a lamp, etc."25 Of the writings we have listed, it is the furthest removed in its bearing and application from the practical religious life.

Kîmiya al-Sarâdah is thus summarized by Gardener: 26 "On the nature of man; a man must know his own soul and its needs; what he was created for; wherein his true happiness consists; wherein his misery lies; in order that he may know God. Only in a true knowledge of God can he find a means of changing his evil character into a good character. The Alchemy of Happiness is to be found only in the store-house of God."

I have already referred to and quoted from the *Munqidh*; there remain²⁷ two other short works in which al-Ghazâli in a very definite way sets forth his views on the religious life. They are the *Badâyat al-Hidâyah*, and, *Ayyuha 'l-Walad*.

Badâyat al-Hidâyah is a primer of religion and ethics for the populace, containing "what is essential for the masses of special care in wirship and usage." 28 Part One deals with outer obedience in matters of ethics and worship; Part Two with inner disobedience of the heart. He declares the second part to be by far the more important and valuable, for anyone can outwardly conform to what is required, but only the truly righteous can avoid lust and passion and prevent his heart from being disobedient to Allah the Exalted. He then discusses briefly the right use

²⁵ Our'an 24:35.

²⁶ Al-Ghazâli, Madras, 1919, p. 107.

²⁷ I have not had access to the Khulaşat al-Taşanif, the Naşihat al-Mulak, or the Minhaj.

²⁸ S. M., v. i, p. 41.

of the seven members of the body—eye, ear, tongue, body, sexual parts, hand and foot. Then follows a long section on the purifying of the heart from envy, hypocricy, and boastful pride. The last section deals with the ethics of companionship with Creator and creature. All in all it is a very simple handbook of practical ethics covering the beginning of guidance in the right path, for the ignorant and unlearned. To one familiar with the depths of the ignorance of the masses in Islâm, it is remarkable to find such a learned Shaykh as al-Ghazâli interested in preparing a treatise in simple language, with the purpose of making the religious life vital and real to even the most ignorant.

THE PECULIAR WORTH OF AYYUHA 'L-WALAD :29

The second book Ayyuha 'l-Walad was written in reply to the question of a learned shaykh who says he has spent his life in the study of all branches of knowledge, and as he approaches the grave he does not know what pertains only to this world, and what is of value in the future life. In this treatise, in contrast with Badâyat al-Hidâyah, al-Ghazâli is dealing with an educated man, whose technical knowledge of the religious sciences of Islâm is great. He therefore emphasizes the importance of work befitting his knowledge. Thus he says,

O youth..... be assured that knowledge alone does not strengthen the hand..... Though a man read a hundred thousand scientific questions and understood them or learned them, but did not work with them-they do not benefit him except by working. .. Knowledge is the tree, and working is its fruit; and though you studied a hundred years and assembled a thousand books, you would not be prepared for the mercy of Allah the Exalted except by working, 30

And again,

Faith is confession with the tongue and belief with the heart and work with the members of the body, 31

So long as you do not work, you do not find a reward.32

And surely here is a biographical touch:

How many nights you have remained awake repeating science and poring over books, and have denied yourself sleep! I do not know what the purpose of it was. If it was attaining worldly ends and securing its vanities, and acquiring its diginities and surpassing your contemporaries, and such like, woe to you and again woe; but if your purpose in it was the vitalizing of the Law of the Prophet, and the training of your character, and breaking the soul commanding to evil, then blessed are you and again blessed. 33

So what have you gained from the acquisition of the science of dogmatic theology and from disputation and medicine and "diwans" and poetry and astronomy and prosody and syntax and etymology except squandering life.34

His conviction that knowledge is of value only as it leads to fruitage in life may be readily seen from such statements as these:

Knowledge without work is insanity, and work without knowledge is vanity. Know that any science which does not remove you today far from apostasy, and does not carry you to obedience, will not remove you tomorrow from the fire of Hell.35

If knowledge alone were sufficient for you and you did not need work besides, then would his summons-Is there any who asks? and is there any who seek forgiveness? and is there any who repents?-be lost without profit.36

The substance of knowledge is to learn what are obedience and worship, 37

He has declared in the Munqidh38 that he is convinced that only the Sûfis know the secret of the true way to attain verity and nearness to Allah. Yet in the Munqidh he also declares39 that among the four causes of the neglect of religion and a lukewarmness of faith, one arose among those specializing in the path of the Sûfi. Here, along with a constant emphasis on the indispensable character of the Sûfi way of life, he condemns the excesses into which Sûfis are led, and the vagaries of their "ecstatic utterances" and "vehement cries." For example, he says,

It is essential that you be not deceived by the ecstatic utterances and vehement cries of the Sûfis, because walking this

²⁹ The Date of Ayyuha 'l-Walad-The following data help in fixing the date: There are in it frequent references to the Ihya' so that it was later than the Ihya'. It was written in reply to the request of a shaykh who had spent his life in study. It was written in Persian, which suggests that he was a Persian, rather than an Arab. Undoubtedly this is one of al-Ghazâli's latest writings. I venture to suggest that it was probably written while al-Ghazâli was teaching in Naysabur, or even during his last years in Tus.

³⁰ Section V, Translation.

³¹ Section V, Translation.

³² Section VI, Translation.

³³ Section VII, Translation.

³⁶ Section XII, Translation. 37 Section XV, Translation.

³⁴ Section IX, Translation. 35 Section X, Translation.

³⁸ p. 30 39 p. 37.

road is by struggle and cutting off the lusts of the soul and killing its desires with the sword of discipline, not by vehement cries and idle words, 40

On the other hand, he sets forth the true nature of Suffism in these words:

Know that becoming a Sufi has two characteristics: uprightness with Allah the Exalted, and quietness with mankind; and whoever is upright with Allah and improves his character among the people, and treats them with forbearance, he is a Sûfi. 41

And again, he names four necessary qualities of the Sûfi:

first, a true conviction that has in it no heresy; second, a sincere repentance, after which you do not return to sin; third, the satisfaction of adversaries, so that there shall remain to no one a claim against you; and fourth, the attainment of a knowledge of the laws, sufficient that you perform the commands of Allah the Exalted 42.

In later sections he discusses the various "Stages" of the Sûfi, devotion, trust, sincerity, and the like. And to each of these he gives an interpretation applicable to everyday life.

Finally he admonishes the shaykh concerning eight matters, four to avoid and four to follow. 43 The four he is to avoid are: disputation, except it be in a sincere desire to have truth uncovered whether by him or his opponent; second, preaching, unless his purpose be that for his hearers "the qualities of their inner lives shall change and the deeds of their outer lives be transformed"; third, mixing with Sultans and princes; and fourth, accepting gifts and presents from princes. The four things he is to follow are: first, "make year dealings with Allah the Exalted such that if your servant acted thus with you, you would be pleased with him"; second, "whenever you deal with people, treat them as you would be pleased to be treated by them"; third, in the study of science, "it must be a science which improves your heart and purifies your soul": fourth, "do not gather from the world more than the sufficiency of a · year." 44

Surely in this treatise al-Ghazâli is revealed as a very practical Mystic. On the one hand, he has no hard-and-fast mechanically fixed

path of "Stages" to be attained, and of "States" to be bestowed; on the other hand he openly and strongly condemns the exuberant vehemencies of an artificial ecstasy. He emphasizes the objectives of Sûfiism in the old ascetic terms of renunciation of the worldly soul and its desires, and states its ideals, and the proof of its reality and sincerity, to lie in seeking uprightness with God, and a daily life of fruitful conduct and service. But out of his experience, first his critical doubt and uncertitude, then his continued study and meditation, and finally and more especially his own practice of this Mystical way, he became convinced that he had learned the way to reality, the path to God. And his conclusions are set forth in this treatise, written near the end of his life, Ayyuha 'l-Walad,

SUMMARY.

Perhaps I can summarize conclusions as follows: The honor and respect in which al-Ghazâli is held in the whole Moslem world make any of his writings of interest to the student of Islâm. The sincerity and reality of his spiritual pilgrimage in the search for truth put him among the saints of God and make a knowledge of his experiences of value to anyone who is as he a seeker after truth. Although the theological and philosophical works of his earlier years are authoritative and important, yet peculiar interest is attached to the products of his meditation and study in the years following the spiritual crisis in his life which convinced him that the way of the Sûfi was the only sure approach to God. Among these, Ayyuha 'l-Walad is highly valuable, because: (a) it is one of his very latest books; (b) it was written to a learned shaykh,45 himself fully informed in the various disciplines of learning; (c) it reveals his conviction as to wherein lies the value of knowledge; (d) it gives his interpretation of the meaning of Sûfîism and his conclusions as to the superiority of the practice of the "Way", rather than indulgence in ecstasy; (e) it reveals the character of al-Ghazâli in its maturity; (f) it sets forth an ideal for an inner religious life issuing in the fruitage of good works, and far removed from formalism in worship and the acceptance of a stereotyped creed. He represents religion as the expression of man's inner being, "more than Law and more than Doctrine; it is the Soul's experience"46an ideal yet seldom realized in Islâm.

⁴⁰ Section XVI, Translation 41 Section XIX, Translation.

⁴³ Section XXIII, Translation.

⁴² Section XVII, Translation.

⁴⁴ Section XXIV, Translation.

⁴⁵ See Section I, footnote 6, of the Translation.

⁴⁶ DeBoer, p. 168.

PART ONE

MANUSCRIPTS AND TEXT

I. LIST OF MANUSCRIPTS AND PRINTED TEXTS CONSULTED

In determining the text of this opuscule of al-Ghazâli, I have had access to the following manuscripts and printed texts, which are referred to throughout this dissertion by the number or letter preceding each:

Manuscripts of Text 1

- 1. Vienna² 1841—Das Buch O Kind! von dem eben erwahnten grossen mystichen Sheich und Imam Zein-ad-Dîn Abû Hâmid Muhammad al-Ghazâlî mit dem Beinamen Huddchat al-islam, der am 14 Dschumâdâ II 505 (19 Dec. 1111) starb. Beides, Text und Übersetzung dieser ethischen Abhandlung, wurde vom Hammer-Purgstall Wien 1838 herausgegeben und daselbst in der Einleitung S. ix-xvii die Lebenschreibung des Verfassers mitgetheilt. Der Codex beginnt Bl. 1 v: المنتفن und schliesst Bl. 13v. 13 Bl. Octav, gegen 7½ Z. hoch, gegen deutlich, Stichworter und Einfassung roth. Gut erhalten, nur das zwi-5Z. breit, Papier hellgelb, Naschî zu 17 Zeilen, ziemlich gefällig und schen jedem Worte sich ein rother Strich befindet.—Cypressenband—
- 2. Dresden³ 172—Cod. mixtus foll. 208, 4°, variis characteribus, sed tamen maximam parten nestha'liq scriptus, continens Collectanea et

— 19 —

¹ In the list of MSS. I have quoted the descriptions of the various manuscripts exactly as they are described in the various official catalogs of the Libraries concerned.

² Die Arabischen, Persichen und Türkischen Handschriften der Kaiserlich-Königlichen Hofbibliothek zu Wien. (Flugel) 1867.

³ Catalogus Codicum Manuscriptorum Orientalium Bibliothecae Regiae Dresdensis (Fleischer) Lipsiae MDCCCXXXI.

- 3. Dresden 201—Cod. arab. foll. 184, 4°, char. neschi scriptus 4) f. 128v—152r. Tractatus Ejjuhâ'l-waled, auctore El-Ghazâlî.
- 4. Berlin⁴ 3975—Titel fehlt. er ist رال أيا الولد Am Rande und zwischen den Zeilen Glossen. Anfang f. 30b. كليد ته رب اليابين والعاقبة للمنتين Am Rande und Die vorliegende Abhandlung, nach dem Anfang der Hauptsatze mit ايا الولد betitelt, ist von Abu Hamid elgazzâlî. 8 vo. 12Z (20½ x 16) (13 x 6½ 7 cm) Zustand, nicht ohne Flecken—Papier : gelb, glatt, ziemlich dünn Einband : Pappbd. mit Kattunrücken. Schrift : grober türkischer Zug, nicht leicht zu lesen, vocallos. Abschrift vom. J. 1119/1707.
- 5. Berlin 3976-1) 8 Bl. 8vo. 19Z (20½ x 11½) (14½ x 7 cm) Zustand, nichtganz sauber. Papier, gelb. glatt, dünn; Einband, Pappband mit Ledderrücken. Schrift, Persicher Zug, klein, gefällig, vocallos, aft auch ohne diakritische Punkte. Stichwörter roth.—Abschrift c. 1000/1591.
- 6. Berlin 3976-2)—8vo. 13Z (20½ x 14) (12½ x 8 cm) Zustand nicht ganz sauber und ziemlich fleckig. Schrift, Türkische Hand, ziemlich gross, gut, gleich-mässig, vocallos. Das Stichwort proth.—Abschrift um 1100/1688.—Zwischen den Zeilen (auch am Rande) stehen öfters Türkische Glossen in kleiner Schrift.
- 7. Berlin 3976-3)—98 Bl., 8vo. 17Z (21½x 14½) (15½ x 8cm) Zustand, ziemlich gut. Papier, gelblich, stark, glatt. Schrift, gross, kräftig, rundlich, deutlich, etwas vocalisert. Das Stichwort ايها الولد in Jahr 1111/1700.
- 8. Berlin 3976-4)—8vo. 21Z. (Text 14-15 x 10cm) Titel fehlt. Der Schluss (wie bei 3975) steht f. 58b am Rande. f59a ist Wiederholung von 58a. Schrift, ziemlich klein, etwas rundlich, vocallos. Abschrift c. 1150/1737.

- 9. Berlin 3976-5)—8vo. 17Z, (20½ x 14½) (13 x 7¾cm) Titel fehlt. 130a von späterer Hand. Schrift, Türkische Hand, ziemlich gross, kräftig, vocallos. Bl. 130 erganzt. Am Rande und zwischen den Beilen, viele Glossen. Abschrift c. 1750.
- 10. Berlin 3976-6)—64 Bl. 8vo. 19-20Z (15½ x 10½cm) Zustand, braunfleckig. Bl. 10 oben ausgebessert. Papier, gelb, ziemlich stark, wenig glatt. Einband, Pappband mit Lederrücken. Titel u. Verfasser fehlt. Schrift von عبد البائي بن ملا الماجي دروين um 1186/1772. (So steht f. 63a; die Zahl 1100 abf. f. 60b ist unvollstandig).
- II. Berlin 3976-7)—63 Bl. 8vo. 12Z. (15½ x II) (11½ x 7½cm) Zustand, etwas fleckig, besunten am Rande; Papier, gelb, ziemlich glatt u. stark; Einband, schöner halbfranz-band; Titel u. Versasser sehlt; Ansang wie bei 3976-9) Schrift, gross, kräftig, deutlich, etwas rundlich, vocallos; Abschrift, um 1200/1785.
- 12. Berlin 3976-8)—Format etc. und Schrift wie bei 7). Titel überschrift کتاب آیا الولد Abschrift v. J. 1205/1790.
- 13. Berlin 3976-9)—120 Bl. 11Z. (15 x 10) (10 x 6cm) Zustand, nicht ganz sauber; Papier, weisslich, auch ströhgelb, ziemlich stark, etwas glatt; Einband, Pappbd. mit Lederrücken. Titel u. Verf. f. 1a unten: الحمد شعق عده والصلوة والسلام على رسوله الما من مالة تاليف الغزالي Von hier an so wie bei (Berlin 3975). Schrift, ziemlich gross, gefällig, vocallos. Die Stichwörter اعلم roth. Abschrift um 1220/1805.
- 14. Berlin 3976-10)—Titel f. 173a : كتاب أيها الولد Das Vorhandene schliesst f. 190b : واصرف عدًا شرّ الاشرار واهنق (s. bei Berlin 3975); es fehlen nur wenige Zeilen.
- 15. Berlin 3976-11)—Titel fehlt. Der Schluss f. 60a mit dem Gebet etwas abgekürzt. Bl. 60 von anderer Hand ergânzt.

⁴ Katalog die Handschriften verzeichnisse der Königlichen Bibliothek zu Berlin (Ahlwardt) Berlin 1891.

- 16. Berlin 3976-12)—Titel fehlt. Bl. 61b-64a leer; f. 64b 66b in schräger Richtung einige Verse und ein Kleines Lobegedicht auf Mohammad; 68a ein Stelle aus
- 17. Berlin 8915-9) and 3976-13)—(21½ x 15½) (14 x 9½cm) Die Abhandlung des الغزالي die betitelt ist صالة أبها الولد Der Anfang der Abhandlung steht f. 75a am Rande, der Schluss f. 80b. gleichfalls. Der Schluss weicht etwas ab.
- 18. Paris⁵ 1122. Papier. 100 feuillets. Hauteur 20 centimeters, largeur, 14 centimeters, 15 lingues par page. MS. de diverses écritures du XVIIe siècle.⁶ —3° (Fol. 26 v°.) Le traité d'al-Ghazâlî, avec la préface.
- 19. Paris 1291. Fragment du traité مناالولد O mon fils! épitre dans laquelle Abou Hâmid al-Ghazâli enseigne à un de ses disciples les connaissances qui, seules, peuvent servir pour la vie future. Papier. 2 feuillets. Hauteur 21 centimeters, largeur 15 centimeters. 33 a 35 lignes par page. MS. du XVIe ou du XVIIe siècle.
- 20. Paris 2351. Papier, 36 feuillets. Hauteur 21 cm., largeur 14 cm. MS. de diverses écritures du XVIe et du XVIIe siècle. —4° (Fol. 33 v°.) Premiers feuillets du ما الما الولاء d'Abou Hâmid al-Ghazâlî.
- 21. 2405. Papier. 363 feuillets. Hauteur 21 centimeters, largeur 14 centimeters et demi. Écritures diverses du XVIIe et du XVIIIe siècle.

 —9° (Fol. 344) Le traité intitulé le l'él d'Abou Hâmid al-Ghazâlî.
- 22. Paris 3973. Papier. 189 feuillets. Hauteur 20 cm., largeur 15 cm. Environ 16 lignes par page. —10° (Fol. 112 v°) Le traité أيما الولد d'al-Ghazâlî.

- 23. Paris 7 4932. Le traité Ayyouha al-valad par Ghazâlî. Neskhi daté de 1090 H. 11 feuillets 22 x 14.5 centimeters.
- 24. Paris 6394—Recueil de traités de jurisprudence et théologie; le traité intitulé Ayyouha al-walad, de Abou Hâmid Mohammad ibn Mohammad al-Ghazâlî, sur les adabs de la vie religieuse (folio 41 verso). Neskhi, copié par Iskandar ibn 'Abd al-Salam, dans la première moité du XIXe siècle. 122 feuillets, 22 sur 18 centimeters.
- 25. London⁸ CXXII Codex chartaceus forma quadrata minore, ff. 163: variis constans libellis in unum compactis. Saec. XVII. —IV. Abu Hamid Muhammad al-Ghazali ابر حامد محمد بن محمد النزائي obiit A. H. 505. Tractatus moralis. fol. 40b—66b. Tit. أبيا الولد. 'O Puer".
- 26. London DCXXII Codex chartaceus in 4to. ff. 110: A. H. 1094, A. D. 1687, charactere occidentali exartus. —XIII. Ḥujjat al-Islâm Abú Muḥammad al-Gazzáli. Obiit A. H. 505. حجة الاسلام ابو حامد محمد بن محمد ألمال ألمال
- 27. MS. in the library of the San Sophia mosque in Constantinople, catalog number 4786.
- 28. MS. in possession of the writer, purchased in Damascus. 20th century. 9

Manuscripts of Texts with Commentary.

i. Vienna 1842 (see footnot 2) — شرح الظلات Die leuchte der Finsternisse, ein arabischer gemischter Commentar zu den ebenerwähnten Abhandlung O. Kind! von Hasan bin 'Abdallah in J. 756 (1355) verfasst, mit dem Anfange: الحدد لله الذي جمل العلم للانسان ففيلة واعلى بسببه عطية جزيلة الن

⁵ Catalogue des Manuscrits Arabes par M. le Baron de Slane—Bibliothèque Nation-

⁶ But this MS. reads at the bottom of the last page, f. 38b, جلا المجر ذي الحج والخر ذي المجر المجاه ; i.e., about 1563.

⁷ Catalogue des Manuscrits Arabes des Nouvelles Acquisitions—E. Blochet. Paris, 1925.

⁸ Catalogus Codicum Manuscriptorum Orientalium qui in Museo Britannico-London, 1846.

⁹ Since writing this dissertation I have also examined cursorily twelve MSS. in the Egyptian National Library in Cairo.

den Worten wie dem Sinne nach wobei die Grammatik nicht leer ausgeht. Die abschrift vollendete Hafiz Muhammad bin Muhammad in J. 1228 (1813) — Schluss Bl. 47v. 47 Bl. (Bl. 48 Schmuzblatt) Duodez, gegen 6 Z. hoch, 4½ Z. breit. Papier, hellgelb. Naschi, nastalikartig zu 15 Zeilen, gefällig und deutlich, Stichwörter roth. Text roth überstrichen. Gut erhalten.

ii. Vienna 1843. ألم الولد شرى خادى Ein zweiter gemischter arabischer Commentar zu derselben Abhandlung, von Châdimî, dem jedes Vorwort abgeht. Der in neurer zeit aus einer Constantinoplitaner Handschrift copirte und vielleicht nicht viel über 30 Jahre Codex beginnt sogleich mit der Erklärung des Anfangs des Originals: المناف ال

iii. Munich 10 174 Quatr. 20 c.h. 15 c. br. 195 f. 23 lin. 110 b-162 Commentar zur ethischen Abhandlung Ghazzali's اليا الولد 'O Kind!' Derselbe beginnt ohne Vorrede sogleich mit dem commentierten Texte المشادة شرب العالمين اقتباس من اول الناتمة فلا انسل منها Worte des Textes sind:

iv. Berlin 3977-2) (See footnote 4) — Format 31 Z. Text 17 x 7½ cm. Zustand: im Ganzen gut.—Papier, gelblich, ziemlich dünn, glatt.—Einband, Pappband mit Lederrücken und Klappe.—Schrift, Türkische Hand, klein, fast vocallos. Titelüberschrift und Verfasser f. 101a: المادنة رب العالمين اقتباس من أول: Anfang شرح أنيها الولد على نصيحة النزالي للخادمي Ausführlicher gemischter Commentar des Mohammed al-

Rhadimi, d. 1160/1747 Schluss: f135a. يرحمنك يا عزيز يا غفار . Abschrift in Jahre 1212 Rabi' II (1797)

Printed Texts and Commentaries.

- A. Cairo text, contained in volume entitled الرسائل pp. 95-124. Maṭba'ah Kurdistân al-'ilmîyyah, Cairo, A. H. 1328.
- B. Constantinople text, Matba'ah Maḥmûd Bek, Constantinople, A. H. 1324.
- C. Commentary of Khâdimi (see nos. ii. and iv above). Matba'ah Mahmûd Bek, Constantinople, A. H. 1324.
- D. Arabic Text contained in Hammer-Purgstall's "O Kind!" Wien, 1838.

¹⁰ Die Arabischen Handschriften der K. Hof- und Staatsbibliothek in Muenschen; Joseph Aumer -- Munschen 1866.

II. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE MANUSCRIPTS

This opuscule of al-Ghazâli, Ayyuha 'l-Walad, was written by the author in Persian, and later translated into Arabic. Al-Sayyid Murtada says, "Ayyuha 'l-Walad was written in Persian, and certain of the learned men translated it and called it by this famous name." No Persian manuscript is known to be in existence. In addition to those to which I have had access, some thirty other manuscripts are found in various libraries in Europe—in Bologna, Florence, Madrid, Halle, Tubingen, Strassburg, Leipsig, Leiden, Cambridge, Oxford, and so forth. Some of the difficulties arising in connection with the determination of the original Arabic text, on the basis of an examination of the thirty-two manuscripts of text or commentary available to me, are these:

- a. The translation was not made by al-Ghazâli himself, and no Persian manuscript is available for comparison.
- b. The earliest manuscripts date from the seventeenth century, except for the MS. 5, dated at about 1591, and MS. 18, which bears the date 969 A.H., or about 1563 A.D. There is thus a period of nearly six centuries between the death of al-Ghazâli, and the date of the earliest manuscript.
- c. There is no evidence that any of the existing manuscripts are original translations from the Persian, nor nearly related to them.
- d. Many of the manuscripts are undated, and others are dated only approximately.³ Certain of the manuscripts are signed,⁴ or dated,⁵ or both,⁶ but this gives no clue as to the date of the original manuscript from which these are copied; for a late manuscript may conceivably be tran-

¹ S.M., v. i, p. 41. 2 MSS. 6, 19 (?), 20 (?), 23, and 26.

³ MSS. 1, 2, 3, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20, 21, 24, 25. 4 MSS. 16, 24.

⁵ MSS. 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 11, 13, 18, 23, 26.

scribed from a lost copy, which is very much earlier than any existing manuscript.

e. While existing manuscripts are from the hands of Persian,7 Turkish,8 and Arabic9 scribers, this in itself provides no clue as to the date or character of the original manuscripts from which these are copied; for a Persian scribe may have labored in Constantinople, or a Turkish scribe in Baghdad, for instance.

The manuscripts from Persian scribes are few in number. MS. is incomplete, ending in section XXIII with the account of the second group of those whose question it is not necessary to try to answer.10 It also omits most of the first part of Section XIX, up to the words: "Then know that becoming a Mystic has two characteristics."11 MS. 7, though seemingly in Arabic penmanship, is probably from a Persian scribe. He signs himself "Sayyid Mohammed b. Husayn." The use of Sayyid as a title, and the name Husayn, are both characteristic Persian usages. Manuscripts of commentaries furnish little help in determining the text. MS. 2 I have selected as the one to translate, for reasons mentioned below.

The manuscripts from Turkish hands, with the exception of MS. 4, offer a very unsatisfactory Arabic text. Quite evidently the writers possessed a very imperfect knowledge of Arabic. There is considerable evidence that the scribe copied from the dictation of a reader, and was not sure of the words he heard, so that he repreduced the sounds correctly, but not the letters nor the correct nuon or verb forms. For instance, in these manuscripts, such errors as these occur:

Wrongly copied	Correct form
تحصيل العلم الطب	تحصيل علم الطب
حأصلك	حاصل لك
مدي	مدة
مسايل	مسائل
قراءة	قرأت
فاستمرة	فاستمرث
نصبحت	نصيحة

⁷ MSS. 2, 5, 7, i(?). ii.

There remain the manuscripts from Arabic hands. Of these there are first of all a small number which are of little value as aids in determining the text, because of the carelessness with which they are copied, or the incomplete nature of their contents. MS. 8 contains many errors, omissions of words, and duplications of syllables and words. MSS. 104 11, and 16, though written in Arabic script, possess many of the characteristics of the Turkish manuscripts. MS. 17 is in two scripts, the first four sections and the conclusion being added on the margin in a different hand from the body of the treatise. MS. 19 is incomplete, closing in section XVIII with the quotation from the Qur'an, "Truly Satan is your enemy; therefore for an enemy hold him."12 MS. 20 is even less complete, closing with the first few lines of section X.13 MS. 24 is very late, is much confused, and is of little value.

The remaining manuscripts from Arabic hands are complete, and for the most part grammatically sound. They, together with MSS. 2, 4, 5, and 7, fall into two groups, the manuscripts within each group agreeing in the main, while the groups as a whole differ from each other.14

Group One includes MSS. 1,15 2, 4, 5, 15, 18, 24, 25 and probably 13 and 26. In Group Two are MSS. 3, 7, 22, 23 and probably 8 and 12. The manuscripts of Group Two are inferior to those of Group One in many respects. They include many emendations and glosses, and a number of unsound grammatical constructions. Also in certain of the more concise and difficult passages they are frequently expanded, edited or modified to remove the seeming difficulty in the text. A more careful study of these two groups might lead to the conclusion that each group is derived from a distinct original or protype. On the other hand, Group Two may represent manuscrips which are derived from Group One; or both may be derived from a single original, the divergence being slight at first and gradually widening. The two Dresden MSS. (nos. 2 and 3 in my list) are excellent representatives of these two groups, and I have noted elsewhere the variations in the introduction to this treatise of al-Ghazâli, in detail.16

⁸ MSS. 4, 6, 9, 10(?), 16(?), 21, 27, iv.

⁹ MSS. 1, 3, 8, 10 (?), 11 to 15, 16, (?), 17 to 20, 22 to 26, 28, i (?).

¹⁰ In our MS., folio 97b., 1. 14.

¹¹ In our MS., folio 96a., l. 17, to folio 96b., l. 14. Probably a page of the original MS. was overlooked.

¹² In Arabic, folio 96a, l. 8.

¹³ In Arabic, folio 94a, l. 14.

¹⁴ The manuscripts of Commentaries on this treatise are also from two sources, MSS. i and iii are copies of the earliest commentary, that of Hasan b. Abdallah, who died in 756/1355. MSS. ii and iv are the commentary of al-Khadimi who died in 1160/1747. This latter has been published in Constantinople. While of assistance in preparing the translation, they are of little value in determining the original text of the treatise.

¹⁵ This MS. was used by Hammer-Purgstall as the basis for his translation of this treatise into German, and published with the translation, in Vienna in 1838.

¹⁶ See last page of this chapter.

From the manuscripts of Group One, which as a group are the best, I have selected MS. 2 to translate, for these reasons:

- 1. The manuscript is written in excellent Arabic, terse, concise, and gramatically sound.17.
- 2. The penmanship gives evidence that it is from the hand of an educated man; there are also few errors of copying, erasures, repetition of syllables, or omissions of essential words or phrases.
- 3. An examination of the supralinear sublinear and intralinear glosses show them to be for the most part not corrections of errors, but written by the hand of another than the original scribe, and added to simplify difficult constructions, to complete partial quotations, or to make elliptical phrases less concise.
- 4. Marginal emendations, written by a different hand, in many cases supply phrases or sentences included in the text in certain other manuscripts, especially MS. 1. One can infer that the emendator had access to this MS. or a copy of it, and sought to bring the text of MS. 2 into agreement with MS.I.
- 5. This manuscript is written in the nestha'liq script of Persia. Following the end of the text on ff. 99b. and 100a there is copied in the same hand an extract from a Persian Sufi writing, entitled الرسالة القدسة and ascribed المناه خواجه عمد الرسا Since Arabic was the universal language of religion and literature in the Islamic world, while the use of Persian was never widespread, and since this document is written in Persian script, it seems almost certain that the writer of this manuscript was a Persian. Unfortunately there is in the document itself no indication as to his identity nor when he lived. We have no clue in any source concerning the date when Ayyuha 'l-Walad was translated from Persian into Arabic, beyond the simple statement of the Sayyid Murtada.19 It is possible that the scribe who copied this manuscript

had access to the original translation, or at least a very accurate copy of it. At any rate it seems certain that in the text of this manuscript, without the glosses and marginals emendations we have a very early and accurate Arabic text of this treatise.20

Since the text of Ayyuha 'l-Walad is already available in printed form,21 perhaps a word should be said concerning their characteristics and accuracy. Text A (Cairo) is far superior to the other texts. On the whole it is grammatically sound, and it is free from many of the additions and emendations appearing in many of the manuscripts, though there are occasional evident errors. But it shows little evidence of having been based on a careful comparison of various MSS., nor is it as sound nor concise as the text of our MS.

Text B is very imperfect, containing many unsound grammatical constructions, reduplications of words or phrases, inclusion of undoubted marginal emendations and glosses.

Text C contains the text and the commentary of Khâdimi, but there is no statement as to the manuscript on which it is based. The text without commentary printed as an appendix is also unsatisfactory and imperfect. 111

Text D is based on MS. 1 in our list but it does not follow that MS. in all points. It contains both grammatical and typographical errors on nearly every page. Moreover none of these printed texts claims to be selected after a comparative study of various manuscripts, nor to be an attempt to regain the original text of this work.

On the page immediately following I present a comparison of the variations in the Introduction to Ayyuha 'l-Walad, between MSS. 2 and 3. It is impossible to note all the variant readings among the manuscripts, but in the following section, opposite each folio of the manuscript I note a few of the more typical ones.

21 See List of Manuscripts and Texts. It has also appeared from a press in Kazan, Russia, in 1905.

¹⁷ The errors are negligible: f. 92b., l. 17, w. 5, مسائلي for مسائلي ; f. 94a,

for سعى الاصلاح مرضه .w. 12, سعى الاصلاح مرضه .f. 97b., 1. 1, w. انجيل عسى .for والعلماء الاطياء أو والعلماء والاطياء ; f. 97b., l. 1, ww. 13, 14; سعى الاصلاح مرضه for instance.

¹⁸ On the margins of ff. 92b, 93a, and 93b there are written definitions of various terms, in Turkish. But these are plainly a different hand than that of the scribe who wrote the Arabic text and the appended Persian note.

¹⁹ Quoted in first paragraph of this section about the Manuscripts.

²⁰ This conclusion is further strengthened by the close agreement in text between this MS. and MS. 18, which is, if its own claim as to date is accepted, our oldest dated MS, and MS. 5, the next oldest MS.

Variations in the Readings of MSS. 2 and 3, as they occur in the Introduction.

```
1. 2, a.w. 7, MS. 3 ins.
                       والسلام
1. 2, a.w. 11, MS. 3 ins. نبيه
ا. 2, a.w. 8, MS. 3 om. واحدابه
السلين . 1. 4, a.w. 2, MS. 3 ins.
l. 5, a.w. 2, MS. 3 ins.
                         فضايل
                                             فضائل
l. 5, w. 9, MS. 3 rd.
                                      for
                         قلبه
                                      for
1. 6, w. 8, MS. 3 rd.
l. 6, w. 12, MS. 3 rd. العلم انواعا من العلوم for العلم انواعا من العلوم
1. 7, b.w. 2, MS. 3 ins.
                               نوع for
l. 7, w. 11, MS. 3 rd.
                         نوعها
1. 8, w. 9, MS. 3 rd.
                         ينفع
                                 for
                                        ينفعني
                         for اتركَه
I. 8, w. 8, MS. 3 rd.
1. 8, a.w. 8, MS. 3 ins. فردًا في الاخرة
                                         وقال
                          قال
1. 8, w. 6, MS. 3 rd.
                                 for
                         for الكفيق
                                        الفكن
1. 9, w. 12, MS. 3 rd.
l. 11, a.w. 4, MS. 3 ins. لفرأ في اوقانه , which MS. 2 ins. supral. gl.
                                         وقال
                          قال
                                 for
l. 11, w. 5, MS. 3 rd.
                         تشتمل
                                         يشتمل
                                  for
l. 12, w. 2, MS. 3 rd.
ال. 12, w. 5, MS. 3 rd.correctly مسائلتي for مسائلي
1. 14, a.w. 1, MS. 3 om. رحمة الله نعالى and rd. عناي عناي عناي الرسالة في جوابه
```

في هن الرسالة for

ورايادون المانون المراوي فلولان المانون المراد المانون بسب المارات المرات الم اعلان واحدار العبة المنقدس لام ندر الني المام زيرالم بر فجالك لام الدمار مموري مخد الغزالي رجوارعك وتوشفارا لنحصب وفراد والعلم فتحرفهم وزمان العلوم واستحر فضأ النفس تماثه يخ وبوبا فيحا أنعشه وخطاع اله فنالران قرأت الواعام العلوم همر وميعها والآن فيف النائم التوريقي للا ودوماز وفارواه كالمصنات النبركالاب لولدالمحيالغزز اطالبغاكرتطاعة وسكر يمسال فبالمساع دة الصيح كمت م معدن الزيالة مدار عليكام الكال

III. THE ARABIC TEXT with Collation of Typical Variant Readings

[This text is published by permission of the Director of the Sächsische Landesbibliothek, Dresden]

Folio 92b

أعلى رسوله محمد وعبده .MS. 13 rd وصحبه .MSS. 22, 23 ins وآله .MSS واله . 1. 2. a.w. وآله .MSS . والله والدواجه والولاده اجمعين

l. 3. w. 6. MS. 22 rd. مستفيدين

1. 7. ww. 1, 2. MS. 19 rd. عري صفار عري مفار عري MS. 21 rd. وصرفت ريعاً من عري MSS. 11, 18, 22 rd.

أي الاخرة MS. 3 ins. في الاخرة

1. 12 w. 8 MS. 12 ins. وقلب لا يخشع ودعاء لا يسمع ونفس لا تشبع

ال. 13. w. 10 MSS. 3, 7, 18, rd. مدت ; MS. 1 rd. مدت ; MS. 20, 21, 23, 24 rd.

al. 15, w. 5 MS. 18 rd. هذه الرسالة في جوابه

ا. 16. w. 2 MSS. 1, 24, w. t; a.o., منثور

Folio 93a

l. 4. w. 1.	امر MSS. 18, 19, 20, 23, rd ; 22 rd ; 22 rd
l. 4. w. 15.	MS I w. t; a.o. rd. حسرته
l. 5. w. 6.	النار a مقمده MS. 3 ins ; مقعده من a.
	MSS. 18, 22 rd. الى for
l. 5. w. 13	MS. 1, 3, 18 w.t; a.o. rd. العلم
l. 6. w. 8.	MS. 3 rd. الحدى ; MS. 23, obs.
1. 7. w. 5.	MS. 22 rds. طالع
ww. 8ff.	بر مشتغل فضل العلم بل يشتغل فضل النفس .MS. 25 rd
	many MSS. ins. العلم والغقه
l. 9. w. 6.	MS. 25 ins. فن

1. 13. ww. 1ff. Many var. which do not alter meaning.

ا. 16, ww. 10ff. MS. 18 rd. بلا استمال ولا ضرب ا. 17. ww. 13, 14. MS. 18 rd. علمها وبعلّمها

Folio 93b

	l. 1. w. 4,	MS. 1 w.t; MS. 18 rd. بعصل; a.o. بصل
	1. 2. w. 8.	MS. 25 ins. a long explanatory gloss
	l. 2. w. 10	ولو قرأت a. العلم Many MSS. ins.
	l. 5. w. 8.	MSS. 1, 19, 20, 21, ins. mg. 9l.; a.o. om.
	l. 6. ww. 18, 19.	MSS. 1, 4, 21, 24, 25, w.t.; a.o.
	l. 7. w. 8	MS. 18 om. ww. ff. وحج , and rd. simply
	l. 8. w 1.	MS. 18 rd. نول
	l. 10 ww. 3-6	Many var. e.g.; العبد يبلغ . هل يبلغ
		آ يَنْلُغُ مُجَرَّدَ آلاِ عِانِ MS. 18 rd. آ
	l. 11. w. 1.	MSS. 1, 2, ins. الميا ; other var. المبنة or
	l. 11. w. 16.	حنينًا . MS. 21 rdجنيًا . MSS. 1, 3, 18, 19, 22 rd
		حافيا عادياً . MS. 23 rd
	l. 12. w. 11.	MS. 22 rd. بنضلي ورحمتي
	l. 14. w. 1.	يختبره . MS. 22 rd أيلجي. • MS. 18 rd
	l. 17. w. 5.	الله MS. 22 ins. انفكم MS. 22 ins. إ
	l. 18. w. 3.	MSS. 3, 18, 20, 22, 23, 24 w.t;
	:	MS. 19 rd. متعن منعن منعن منعن منعن منعن منعن منعن
		MS. 1 rd. متمثن
	l. 18. w. 11.	MSS. 3, 18, 20, 24 rd. مثعن
ı		MS. 19. w.t. MS. 21, 23, dis.
		MS. 1 rd. مثيقن MS. 1 rd.
	l. 19. w. 3.	وطلب الشفاعه بلا اتباع ذُنْب من الذنوب .MS. 25 ins
	l. 19. w. 5.	MS. 3, 18, 19, 20, 22 rd. مالم
i .		

رحمام محالفا لعام فأرارها والبيريون الأاعي غادرة فليعاملهما فأجزا باكاذا بعلون جزاد باكانوا كيسبوك الكيم إذاب ن وضيرت بلي ن وعلوالدكان ووليل الاراكم وأن يحل وأن كالصر زطن أذبار لصند تصافه وسطاع وه الكفت ترحما عليه للسلحنة المالم وقال محتمد تركر بالاصطاح الاترك العالم وقال النبي الميلسلون وال

Folio 94a

النفران . MS. 1, 24, ins. المنفرة . MS. 22 ins. النفران . MS. 18 rd. غرضتك (mg.) غرضتك . MS. 19 rd فرض . MS. 20 rd فرض . MS. 20 rd نيتك غرض . MS. 1, 21, 23 rd نيتك غرض . MS. 22 rd نيتك غرض . MS. 22 rd نيتك غرض . MS. 22 rd

ا. 9. MSS. much confused; MSS. 19, 20, 22, om. وعلى نبينا MS. 18 rd. عبسى for عبسى ; MS. 21, 24 very obs.

1. 12, w. 6 MS. 22 inserts here a verse of poetry not found elsewhere.

l. 14. MS. 20 ends with last w. in this line

الدي كنا نمل .Most MSS. om غير الذي كنا نمل

ال for تحصل for العصل for العصل for العصل الم 1. 17, w. 1 mg. MS. 18 ins. mg., rd.

1. 18, w. 3. MS 18 rd.

ا. 19, w. 7 MS. 21 rd. سعيد , a.o. معيد

السلام الكيش مزدان ففنه وعلالابعدالموت والاحق مزاتيع نعنه موالأمنى لااعلماكان ألبة فيذال كالن تباغ فزالدنيا وجدب حطامها وتخصيات صبوادالما ظالافنان والاشار نو مؤلك فراك وآن كان فضد كفياميا وشرعة الني طرار وا فأقاضن طاصلكي كضبرا علم الكلام والحل والطات والذوا ويرو الاشعار والنج والووس منيات المنزوق أوالي مبوت سيدر شرفاؤه فالأفاق

at L

الذؤر بجلفالا يتعاونك كالانعا بلهم ضؤفلانا مرجزانتفالك زاونالأ الى أونية النار روكان كحسن البيمي رح استح اعطيتر تباء كرر وفي اخذ القير فعنى عليه لاعاريم يتغفون في والمستغفون الاسحارة كو فالطيف طاليك عليدو الم الله شاصوات يحبّها أنه تعلى صوّالة كمه وصوت الدّبرُ القان وصقّ المستغرّر الأيكار ١٥٠ فالرسني الثوريان تتهي ريئ تهزت وقسة الاسحار تحملا لاذكار والاتنغفا والالكاتك اللِّي فَاذَاكَانَ لَيْمَا دَى مَنْ إِدَالالبَقِالْتُ نَفُونَ نَسْوُونَ وَيَعْفُونَ فَا وَاللَّمِ اللَّهِ اللّ الفِي مَنا والالبِفِر الفَالْمَرِ فَيْمَهِ وَمِنْ مُرْدَشْهِم كَالمُونَ مَنْ وَارْفِودِهِم الْهِمَالُولِدِ عَل الشِيعُ الْحَالِمَ مِنْ اللَّهِ الْفَالْمِرِ فَيْمَهُ وَمِنْ مُرْدَشْهِم كَالمُونَ مَنْ وَارْفِيودِهِم الْهِمَالُولِدِ عَلَيْهِمْ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّ نِنَا والأنامِ كَذِبْ وِبْتِ إِنْهُ لُوكِنْ عَاشْقًا كَاسِيقُتْ إِلِيكًا لِحَامِم

Folio 94b

l. 4, w. 6. Mg. ins. by MS. 1, 22.

ال. 5, w. 13. MS. 3, 18, 21, ins. only مزقكم الله MS. 18, rd. نلا

1. 6, w. 9. MSS. 1, 18, rd. معر

MSS. 3, 21, 22, 23, عباس

1. 8, ww. 12ff. MSS. 1, 22, 23 ins. افاق MSS. 3, 18, 21 om. كا

1. 11, a.w. 6. Most MSS. ins. خلق MS. 18 agrees w.t.

Folio 95a

1. I, last w. MSS. divided here between الشرع and الشرع; also in l. 3, w. 1; l. 4, w. 14; and l. 5, w. 6.

ا. 7. w. 8. MS. 18 rd. مطائق 1. 8. w. 4. MS. 18 rd. ومق

l. 15, w. 10. Mg. rding. ins. in 1, a.o. om.

1. 16, w. 2, mg. MS. 1 rds. الربمة instead of سبعة MS. 18 w.t; other MSS. dist. and obs.

1. 18, w. 11. MS. 1, 22 ins. mg. rding. MSS. 3, 21 w.t.

1. 18, a. w. 14. MS. 18 rd. التي تكون فيه النجاة; many var. in other MSS.

العاران فأرالطاعة والعادة مامي اعآران الطاعة والعادة سابقة الشبرع في لاوأمر والنوابي ليقو او الفعار يقف كل لغة او تمنعار متركز فولا وفعال كوان الم كالضب وطالبدوا والمنشريع كموز عاصبا اوصليت في توب فصوب الوكف الطراق بموز الجابات وقطع فهوا النف وقتار والمبيف الرياضة كان والتراك والتراك والمال الطاي داند يلطبي المار الفضاة والثهوة علامة الشقاوة مقالا نعقارا لنف بصدره المحابق لن يخيي فليكرأ نواللوفة وأعلم آن معضوم بسالة بالشي منها لاب تنبه وابد بالكنابة والغولزان ا بالتواكحيلاوة لعلووم ارتاكم لابوف لأبالذون كإيجان عنينا كت لامتاب أن ترنني لذة المحاموة كيف كون فكشف وابديا فلان الآ

Folio 95b

l. 10, w. 8. line of text omitted through homoeoteleuton; see translation in loco.

1. 14, w. 2 from left, MS. 3 rd. 4 ; MS. 18 om., MSS. 21 w.t; other MSS. obs.

1. 19, w. 11. MS. 3 rd. ثورة MS. 18 rd. كثرة الامول والاولاد. MS. 22 rd

الرسام سلامته عليه ولم فالبعض في باعلد نباك بقدرت كفيا واعلالاك غدرت نكرفها واعلاته تمتك بقدره جتكراليه واعملان رمقد صرعه بإياالولد الشيتن البلخ وحاديقها فستم لدوكا وفالصاحبتني منزغمان حاصل فيها فأقتصلت نماز فوار فرالعلم ويتأكمينني فدلا زارع خلص ونجاذفك عَالِشَيْنَ اللَّهِ عَالِهَا تِمَ الْعَانَى اللَّهُ الدُّنظِرَةِ الْخِلِينَ وَأَيْتُ لَكُلُّ مِهِ مُجُوبًا ** وحيدًا ولا ينطرفي فيرة وتوك فيه فما وجدته الَّالا عَالِالْصَّا ٥٠ وكاليسراج في قرى ويولسني فيدولا يركف فرما الفائق التأسيب الذرأيت كنان يقذون اموانهم ويبا درهز الماراة الغشرم فتأكمت الي وكمط الممن فاضعنام رتبر ونهالنف ع العوى فاللجمة بي كاولى وتبقنت لنالؤان خع صادئ فبا درت الح لافضع تشرثت بمجا بدتها كأمنعترا كهواها مضارناصت لطاغة مرتفا والغادت الغائرج اللشيئ الزراب كأواجد كاا النسنسي فع خطام الدنيان بمبسكة قابعناً يده فأبكت في وَلَهِ . ليكوز وخوا اعنداسك المائيج الأبعة اندراب بصنطف فكثرة الاقوام والعث يرفاغةرجهم درعم أحوون اندني تروة الاموا

Folio 96a

1. 6, w. 9. Mg. rding. pr. correct, our MS. om. through homoeotelouton. See translation in loco.

1. 8, w. 5. MS. 19 ends at this point.

ال 1. 12, w. 2 from left. Several MSS. misread دنيا as دنيا

الل ف . 13, a. w. 3. MS 18 ins. الل ف in text.

1. 17, last w. from left. Most MSS. rd. کافید

1. 17, w. 10. MS. 5 om. from this word to folio 97a, l. 14, w.

11, pr. a misplaced page.

1. 18, w. 6. MS. 14 om. from this point to 1. 20, w. 1.

1. 20, a.w. 3. MS. 18 ins. منا in text.

يقام for يقطع for يقام 1. 20, w. 6.

1. 20, w. 1. from left. MS. 18 ins. ين الزرع in text

w. 2 from left. MSS. 4, 24, td. خيث

بِلَيْ يَصَالَهُ عَنْ فَيَكُمُ وَالْوَاصَ وَالْعَلِوالْعَدَى وَلِي وَالْوَيْ)، والوقار ويكون والنا واشالا فهوأذا نووزانوارابني لميالصلوة والسام مصيا الافتدار وكان وجودنا وراغزاج يدروسدوطافية والمآحترام البلز فهوان كأيابس ويقبوش والطاج ية معاحب لتو المنقصرولاية مشاطات لحن والالانس ومحرف بس طنه وعلى كأوال مخار الفؤع الغنا فم اعلم الانصوف صلناك الملك والسكور بزاتفلي فراستقام واحس فلقد الناس وعالي كأا والكستفامة إن كفذي حظ نف يغنيه وحسن الخان بالك مان الأكر الفشك المخالف كم عازادهم المنج لغواال شرع مم إنكا و و فالشارث، آخذها مي فظ الرالشيرة و في نها الان د بالفضاء والغدر و الله و فالنا تركه رضاء نف في طاريف دارين تح وسالتني فإلوكا و ال تفادكنا بترتنك فياوعد يعضان تغيقدان اقدر لكرا بسلاليكامي لأ

Folio 96b

1. 1, w. 3. Mg. gloss included in MSS. 1, 22, i. iii, iv.

See footnote 2, sec. XIX Translation.

1. 2, ww. 11ff. Much confusion among other MSS.

1. 3, ww. 7ff. Much confusion among other MSS.

1. 4, w. 9. Should rd. بصير See 1. 6, w. 1.

1. 4. w. 3. from left. MS. 18, rd. الكونين

النافع . Several MSS. ins. النافع

l. 10, w. 10. MSS. 1, 3, 4, 12, 18, 21, 23, 24 ins. mg. rd.

1. 11, w. 14. MSS. divide bt. and and

1. 13, w. 6. MS. 22 rd. ليقمم

w. 2 from left. MS. 21 rd.

ال. 14, W. 11. MSS. 1. 4, 22, 24 ins. أمذه هي الامور السبعة التي كانت واجبة

(السبعة .MSS. 22, 24 om على السالك جداً)

1. 16, ww. 16, 17. MS. 18 rd. يقدر هضم

ا. 2, w. 2 from left. MS. 1 rd. يثأنى (؟) cor. mg. يأسى MS. 3 rd. ياسى MS. 4 rd. يالى MS. 13 rd. ياسى MS. 13 rd. ياسى MS. 21 rd. يأسى MS. 22 rd.

1. 7, w. 13. Most MSS. omit il

1. 7, ww. 16, 17. MS. 1 w.t. MS. 18 rd. Level MS. 3, 21, 22, 23 om.

l. 10, w. 2 from left. Many MSS. rd. مترل

لامحالة وان اجتهدمز في لعالم على فرف عنك و المكتب لك الضل البروان عدر في العلم من في ه خرزة ابصالار إحة والمشتمة للخص خرمرا بابهم ومتى تخسبهم ذوى فدرته و عزارا إياالوله التأمزب كلعضهم سطرفي مصنفات فاطلف وكما بالعالينكشف لكطاخل أيها آلولد بعذلي سنسفا شكاعبك لبسان قواريج ولوائهم لمبروا منى تخزج اليهم لكان فيرأكهم وأمبران تصبحه لطفنه على فيطيطو والسلام فلانسأ لني مختضي عفا حدث لكنشة أكرا ولأستعجل عيضا لمغ اوارز نيك غفك وارايت ساريم آياتي فلاستهجلون فلاتسأ دنى قبل لوقت وتيفن كم لايضل لأبكير اولم يسيروا في لارض فينظروا أنية آلولد بابتدان كشيرتر كالنجآ وكل نزأ رومك فان ركس فواالالهولاروع كافاردوالنون المعرى وجماه لاحر فالين ان فارنس على بزلزاره و فَجَّال الْ فَالْمُتْ مُعَالِمَ إِنَّهِ السَّالْصَوْفِيهِ إِنَّا الولد الرَّ يَحْلُطُ بثجانية أسشياءا قبلها منى لملاكون على خصاعليك م القلمة تعمل ايحق على نكه وعلى نغيركه وثمانيها ان بوزابيث في مخلا واحتبالم

Folio 97b

The mg. gl. appears in MS. 1 at this point and 1. 4, last ww.

also in l. 17; a.o. omit at this point.

Many minor variations in MSS. ll. 5 to 7.

1. 6, ww. 7 to 14. MS. 1, w.t.; a.o. om.

l. 14, w. 7.

MS. 5 ends at this point.

l. 15, w. 10.

MS. iii ends at this point.

l. 17, w. 2. See above, 1. 4.

Folio 98a

1. 8, w. 1. Most MSS. rd. فيترعجه or فيترعجه for فيجزعه MS. 18 rd. فيترعجه عن مرادته

1. 14, w. 6. Phrase ins. mg. appears in text of MSS. 1, 23, 24.

1. 14, W. 12. MS. 23 W.t., other var. are ينفسر ينفر تنضج

1. 15, w. 10. 1. omitted through homoeoteleuton ins. mg.

الفرون وفي محة تها والفاكرا رادة الفله علي والتهيج وارادة خراب لعالم مائي تني احتر 10 المجازى لا برض ارتدى و موستبدك كلية والنسب كلاعلت اكن المعلم المجازية منهم لاندلا بحلامان عبد من كت لسافرا كاسل مجتر لنغسه و آن ل. اذا العلم الطالعية بنسلج الدكور على المبلخ للبك وزرى تفسك في وعلت الأعرك المجافية

1. 8, ww. 7 and 9. MS. 21 ins. bt. these two words 4 pp. (fols. 359a to 360b) of matter from some other source than Ayyuka 'l-Walad.

ا استهزاء . MSS. 3, 19, rd MS. 22, rd استهزاء . MSS. 21, 23 w.t.

.l 15, w. 1. MS. 1 ins. mg. rding of MS. 2 into text; a.o. om.

Folio 99a

1. 6, w. 8. MS. 3, 21, 23 rd. فيم MS. 1, 23 ins. زكي MS. 1 ins. فيم MS. 1 ins. والعائل يكفيه الإشارة

1. 9, w. 6. MS. I ins. من الوضو. والصلوة وغيرها .w. 9. MS. I ins. حتى تحصل جميع ما اخبرتك ان شاء الله تمالى

1. 12, w. 5. MS. 1, 3, 18, 21, 23 ins. WS. 22 w.t.

ملوم لأبينيك الرشنة لمرافية الغار ومودحتنا النعند والازان وملاب الدنيا وَرَكِهُ مُعْنَكُمُ الأَضْلَانِ الزَّنِيرِ وَلَنْ مُعْلَمُ إِلَّهِ السَّعَا وَعَادِةِ وَالاَصْلَانِ الأَوْمِ و وَلا يُرْعِلَ عِبْدِيوم وَكِيسِلةِ اللّه وَيكِن النّكُونَ مِنْ فِيهِ الْبِكَالْوَلَدُ الْمُعْنَى كَالِما آخِ وَمُعَالِّذَ حنى بخدخلاصًا لوانكراً غِرْسًا كَالسَّلطان بعدُ لاسبوع بجينك زابرًا أغاز في فالملأن لأنغل الأباصلاح الملتأن نظراك لطاسبغم علميزات فالبدن والذار والوكشوعم التخ واللان نفكرالي الشرك فانك فام والكلام الؤد كمؤاكلية فالرسو العصلاء للصيغ النّ المتعمَّا لا بنظرال موركم و لا الي عمالكم و لكن نظر الي تلويكم ونيَّاتكم وآنّ اردتُ عسلم الوالالفك فاخوا الالحياء وغير مزمصتها فدونداا اعدر خالعين وعبرو وخ لكك بنا لأبا يؤرى زانفول ستكانو نفاشطة تحصل والزابع ان لانجع زلانيا ازيز كفايست كاكان بولاسطلالصلامولام بعدلبص عواء وما راتهم أجراف الكدكفاف ١٠ بن بعد ولك الحراج المد بركان بيت لزعلمات في تليط صفعاً وآن في كانت ما عيد بقبن ماكان بعد لحاوت بوم وتصف أبوالولدان كبنت وزوا لف راسات كم فينجي الن تعليا في ولا منساد فيدمز ان تذكر فرق صالح دعائك وآن الدعاملا سالت مني كلام لزدعو الضخاح وافرأ بزالهما فإدفائك فصوصا عقا صاوك اللهم أن است الكر البيرية بما فها وموالعصر دوامها وربار حريثولها ورائح يرصولها وموالعصر دوامها وربار حريثولها ورائح يرصولها وموالع ارغث وتوالعراسعين ومزالات المد ومرالانفاك اعد ومزالفض اعذبه ومزاللطف انفعه اللهم كرني ولاتن عليا اللهم اختم إنسادة آجاب وحفى بازادة آمات فاقرت بالعافية غذونا واصان واجعال أمتك معيزا ومألنا اصبب بجاعفوك على نوبنا ومن علينا بإصلاح يوبنا وجبار التقوى زادنا وفرد نيك عبها دنا وعليك تو كلنا واعتادنا مبتت على بهرالات مقامة واعذنا فرالدنيام روميّا الأدامة والمقيمة من و

تعنقندين تفالاوذار وارزقت عيشة الابرار واكفنا واحرفتنا غزاكشرا واعتى رقا بناونعاب إشنا وانهاش فران رجمتك باغزز بالخفار بارم بستار باطبه اجبار بالله بالاحمال عمیش وب دان وفقگ ام نی خواطکه شرط افغها موکایت دندون عدد در دود کاک نیم فتیم افزد تیجهٔ جنوبر الهیست می ایست کردد و وفود تیلی برای است از آن جذیری ای کرده خود وآن افزدد (وارکرد و ترجاب عدد در دکیلی برای حجرن نواط متوفد کست و دور نیمی جون عدد البیست و یمد برزد وازی برنشو و دنبای شد برجامیا آن الم و از در آن بود که در در ای نیمی وجود نیزیت منهضود و در ایان ای تا تری از آرمیزات الواست می اداره ایران این میران وظا براشدن جذبه الهجات بدان وفقال تعاكر در تداجعني أدفاء كمرا البيت فلرف ادوامهم كفته اندمنصود و نرصها و الأمدادندت والزكر و بسعاد يفطي بريود ان المراكز و السرومين من المحروفال و و المارات المراكز و المراكز و المرادم واصل كل قالداندات وديون وركت وعرياوة ديراكد بالا قروع فارنا زه کردن ذکری سبحانداست رول برسیل سبت و فقید و مقصود ارون کستههوانت ناجون دل زیراعت نهوا فلاه یا جرصانی شود و فرا کاه ذکرکرد و مقصولات محتشهه است و نهیج نوع بنهای وی وترکرن و نهوا و مسای با کارافتک هم ذکر خداد ندخا به نهست و نهیج نوع بنهای وی وترکرن و نهوا و مسای با کارافتک

PART TWO

THE TRANSLATION

THE TRANSLATION

I. In the name of Allah1 the Compassionate2 the Merciful:

Praise unto Allah the Lord of the worlds³ and the good issue to the pious,⁴ and blessing⁵ upon his prophet Mohammed and his family all of them. Know that a certain advanced student⁶ attended zealously to the service of the shaykh, the Imâm, the ornament of religion, the proof of Islâm, Abi Ḥâmid Moḥammed bin Moḥammed al-Ghazâli, the mercy of Allah upon him, and labored in the acquisition and reading of science, until he had assembled the minutiae of the sciences and had per-

I. I Instead of translating the Arabic word by the English term 'God', I have preferred to retain the Arabic word 'Allah', and have done so through the translation.

² Lane, TON, vol. I, p. 15 says that 'the Compassionate' expresses an accidental or occasional passion, while 'the Merciful' denotes a constant quality. The 'Ulama' say that the first means 'Merciful in great things', and the second 'Merciful in small things'. Another explanation is that the first term denotes that active quality from which the evidence of mercy coines, while the second denotes the permanent inherent quality which originates that mercy.

³ The first Surah of the Qur'an opens with this phrase. Sale translates by "all creatures", Rodwell by "the worlds". It is used for the three worlds of rational creatures recognized by Islam—angels, men, and jinn.

⁴ This phrase occurs in the Qur'an, Surah 11:51.

⁵ Calverley, pp. 3-6, discusses at length the derivation and meaning of the word salah.

fected the virtues of the soul; 7 then on a certain day he considered the condition of his soul and it occurred to him and he said, "Truly I have read varieties of sciences, and have spent my life in learning and assembling them, and now I ought to know which kind will benefit me tomorrow and cheer me in my grave, and which will not benefit me, so that I abandon it, as the Apostle9 of Allah, Allah bless and give him peace, said, 'O Allah, I seek10 refuge in thee from knowledge which does not benefit.' And this idea persisted with him until he wrote to the honorable shaykh, the proof of Islâm, Mohammed al-Ghazâli, the mercy of Allah upon him, seeking a "fetwa"11 and asked him questions and desired from him advice and a supplication 12 [to read in its appointed times.] And he

said, "Even though the writings of the shaykh like Ihyâ'¹³ and other works contain the answer to my questions, yet my purpose is that the shaykh should write my requirement in a leaflet to remain with me the length of my life, and I will do according to what is in them all my days, if Allah the Exalted wills." So the shaykh, the mercy of Allah the Exalted (upon him), wrote in this epistle:

II. In the name of Allah the Compassionate the Merciful:

Know, O Youth, beloved and precious,—(Allah) prolong thy days in his obedience, and lead thee in the path of his loved ones—that the open letter? of advice is written from the mine of the Message (of the apostle), Allah bless him and give him peace; if there has reached you advice from it, what need have you of my advice? and if not, then tell me what you have attained in these past years.

III. O youth, from all that the Apostle of Allah, blessing and peace upon him, has advised his Congregation, is his saying, Allah bless him and give him peace: "The sign of Allah's withdrawal from His worshipper? is his busying himself in what does not concern him; and if a man has passed an hour of his life in other than that for which he was created, it is certainly fitting that his grief should be prolonged [in the day of resurrection], and whoever has reached (the age of) forty, and his good does not surpass his evil, let him prepare for the fire"; and in this advice there is a sufficiency for the people of the world [knowledge].

⁷ See Appended Note on The Wonders of the Heart.

⁸ Abûhurairah is quoted in Mishcât al-Maşâbîh (v. i, p. 69) as follows: The Prophet said, "that knowledge from which no benefit is derived, is like a treasure from which no charity is bestowed in the road of God."

⁹ Lane TON, p. 16 says "An apostle is distinguished from a mere Prophet by his having a book revealed to him." Mishcât, v. ii, p. 654, says, "There is a difference between Nabi and Rasûl; a Nabi is he who receives instruction from above to deliver to man, and a Rasûl has those instructions and a book also.— 'Abd-ul-Ḥak''. Mishcât in this same place quotes the traditional saying of Mohammed that there have been 24,000 prophets, and 350 (Hughes D I, article Prophet, says 315) apostles. Another tradition (Majâlis al-Abrâr p. 55) says the number of books delivered was 104, of which 100 are lost. There remain only the Taurat of Moses, the Zabûr of David, the Injîl of Jesus, and the Qur'an of Mohammed.

¹⁰ al-Ghazâli says, in the Ihyâ'-ul-'ulûm: "Satan laughs at such pious ejaculations. Those who utter them are like a man who should meet a lion in a desert, while there is a fort at no great distance, and, when he sees the evil beast, should stand exclaiming, 'I take refuge in God,' without moving a step towards it. What will such an ejaculation profit him? In the same way the mere exclamation, 'I take refuge in God,' will not protect thee from the terrors of His judgment unless thou really take refuge in Him." Quoted in Claude Field Alchemy of Happiness p. 10. I cannot locate the source of this quotation.

¹¹ A "fetwa" is a formal legal opinion given by an official interpreter of the law in answer to a question laid before him.

¹² The worshipper in Islam after completing the prescribed prayers may make any special supplication he will. Sayyid Murtada says the best supplication is:

'O Allah!

I seek refuge in Thee from the punishment of the grave!

I seek refuge in Thee from the testing of the Anti-Christ! I seek refuge in Thee from the testing of the time of life and death!

O Allah! I seek refuge in Thee from sin and obligation!'

⁽S. M. iii. 161 B).

The student desired a special supplication for private use. See Translation Section XXV, note 1. A tradition related by Abu-Malic al-Asja'i (Mishcât v. i, p. 594) says, "when a man embraced Islam, the Prophet would teach him the prayers, and then ordered him to supplicate in these words: O Lord, pardon me, and have mercy on me, and show me the straight road, and give me health, and daily bread."

¹³ See Appended Note on The Vitalizing of the Sciences of Religion.

II. 1 The introduction shows that the one thus addressed is no young child, but an advanced student (פוברו מי וושוף וושניסיים) The word שי means literally "offspring", its use is like the Hebrew "סך or French garçon. I have used the word "youth" throughout, though this particular student, who has spent the greater part of his life in acquiring knowledge, is doubtless a bearded sheikh! See Translation Section I, footnote 6.

² I am translating this phrase as nearly literally as possible. The idea is that advice, proclaimed publicly, must be derived from the Qur'an which is the source of all advice. Hammer-Purgstall renders this very freely in his German translation: "Perlen ausgestreute des Rathes sind gescrieben in der Fundgrube Sendung des Propheten"—and with a slightly different meaning.

III. 1 I fail to find the source of this traditional saying of the Prophet.

² I have uniformly translated the verb "" and its derivatives by the verb worship and its noun forms. In some contexts 'servant' might be more suitable than 'worshipper', but I have thought it best to use a single word consistently.

³ A Swabian proverb says, "A Swabian must put away folly by the time he is forty." See Translation Section I, footnote 6.

IV. O youth, the advice is easy, the difficulty is accepting it, since it is bitter in the taste of the follower of passionate desire, because prohibited things are cherished in their1 hearts; especially whoever is seeking formal knowledge, and is busying himself about excellence of [science and] the improvement of the soul [and jurisprudence] and the praises of the present world, for he accounts that knowledge alone is a means in which will be his safety and his salvation, and that he can get along without work; and this is the belief of the philosophers. Praise the Great God! he does not know this much, that when he acquires knowledge, if he does not work according to it, the indictment against him is certain. As the Apostle of Allah, Allah bless him and give him peace, said2 "The person most severely punished in the day of resurrection is the learned one whom Allah the Exalted does not benefit3 by reason of his knowledge." It is told that Junayd,4 the mercy of Allah (upon him), appeared in a dream after his death, and it was said to him, "What is the news, O Abu Qasim?" He replied, "Perished are the explanations,5 and vanished are the allusions, nothing benefited us except the prostrations which we made in the middle of the night."

V. O youth, do not be bankrupt of works, nor empty of states; I be assured that knowledge alone does not strengthen the hand: a parable of this is, if a man in the wilderness wore ten Indian swords and other weapons, and the man were brave and a warrior, and a terrifying lion attacked him, what do you think? would the weapons ward off the evil from him without his using them and thrusting with them? it is perfectly obvious that they would not ward (it) off, except by activity. Just so, though a man read a hundred thousand scientific questions and understood them or learned them,² they do not benefit him except by working. And similarly, if a man had fever and jaundice, his cure is in oxymel and barley broth, and he will not regain his health except in their use.

Though thou measure two thousand rottles of wine, Unless thou drink, no thrill is thine.³

Knowledge is the tree, and working is its fruit; 4 and though you studied a hundred years and collected a thousand books, you would not be prepared for the mercy of Allah the Exalted, except by working, as Allah the Exalted said,

"And verily nothing (shall be reckoned) to man but that for which he made effort."5

And "whoever hopes to meet his Lord let him work a righteous work," a recompense according to what they have done" a recompense according to what they have earned."

"As for those who believed and do right things, there was for them the gardens of Paradise as an abode."9

["but others have come after them, they have neglected prayer and have followed lusts; and they shall find evil,] except whoever turns and believes and does a good work; [these shall enter the garden and be wronged in nothing".]10

And what do you say as to this tradition: Islâm is built upon five (pillars): the witness that there is no God but Allah, and Mohammed is the Apostle of Allah; and the instituting of prayers; and the giving of alms; and the fast of Ramadan; and the pilgrimage to Mecca (حصر العبر) for everyone who is able11 to make the journey. And faith is confession with the tongue and belief with the heart and working with the members of the body; and the value12 of works is greater than can be reckoned; and if the worshipper attains the Garden by the favor of Allah the Exalted

IV. 1 The confusion between the singular number (the follower) and the plural number (their hearts) exists in the text.

² I do not find the source of this traditional saying.

³ Abuhurairah is quoted as saying: "That knowledge from which no benefit is derived, is like a treasure from which no charity is bestowed in the road of God." Quoted in Mishcât al-Maşâbih, v. i, p. 69.

⁴ Junayd b. Mohammed, Abu Qâsim, was born and lived in 'Irâq. In later years he gave himself entirely to Mysticism and gathered a large circle of followers. He died in 297/910.

⁵ The "explanations" and "allusions" doubtless refer to the practices of speculative theology, which are contrasted with the prayerful attitude of mind which leads to night watches and prayers.

V. 1 See Appended Note on The "Way" of the Moslem Mystic.

² Variant reading; understood them and taught them. See folio 93a, l. 17.

³ This verse appears in Persian in all MSS.

⁴ This same figure is used also in Ghazali's Minhaj, except that there he states that worship (عبادة) is the fruit rather than work (عبادة) and the figure is further developed.

⁵ Qur'an 53:40.

⁶ Our'an 18:110.

⁷ Qur'an 32:17

⁸ Qur'an 9:83, 96

⁹ Our'an 18:107

¹⁰ Qur'an 19:60, 61.

¹¹ Compare the saying of the Qur'an, "God imposeth not on a person save what he is able to accomplish." (2:286).

¹² That is, in the sight of Allah, works as evidence of a real faith are of inestimable value as compared with confession with the tongue or belief in the

and his grace, yet that is after he prepares by his obedience and his worship;

"for the mercy of Allah is near to the doer of good deeds."13

And if it should be said also he attains it by faith alone,14 we reply, Yes, but when does he attain? how many a difficult aclivity meets him before he arrives! the first of these aclivities is the aclivity of faith: will he be escape plunder (of his faith) or not? and when he arrives he will be a bankrupt {sinner}.15 As Hasan16 said: Allah the Exalted says to his worshippers on the day of resurrection, "[Oh my worshippers,] enter into the Garden by my mercy and partake of it by [the measure of] your works."

VI. O youth, so long as you do not work, you do not find [a reward]. It is told that a man of the children of Israel worshipped Allah the Exalted seventy years; and Allah the Exalted desired to display him to the angels, so Allah sent an angel to him to inform him that with that worship, he was not worthy through it of the Garden; and when he informed him, the worshipper replied, "We are created for worship, and we can but worship him." And when the angel returned he said, "O my God, thou knowest best what he said." And Allah the Exalted said, "Since he did not withdraw {[from worshipping us]}, so we with grace will not withdraw from him. Bear witness, oh my angels, that I have forgiven him." The Apostle of Allah said, Allah bless him and grant him peace, "Reckon before you are reckoned with, and weigh before you are weighed." And 'Ali, the pleasure of Allah the Exalted upon him,

said, "Whoever thinks that without exertion he shall reach the garden he is a (vain) desirer; and whoever thinks that by great exertion he shall arrive, he is an acquirer." And Hasan said, the mercy of Allah upon him, "Seeking the garden without working is a serious fault." He also said, "The sign of the real thing is in giving up regard for the work, not in giving up the work." And the Prophet said, upon him be blessing and peace, "The shrewd man is whoever judges himself, and works for what is after death, and the stupid man is the one whose soul follows its passionate desires, and (vainly) longs for Allah the Exalted."

VII. O youth, how many nights you have remained awake repeating science and poring over books and have denied yourself sleep! I do not know what the purpose of it was. If it was attaining worldly ends and securing its vanities and acquiring its dignities and surpassing your contemporaries, and such like, woe to you, and again woe; but if your purpose in it was the vitalizing of the Law of the Prophet, Allah bless him and grant him peace, and the training of your character, and breaking the soul commanding to evil, then blessed are you and again blessed. and so he spoke truly who said:

Wakefulness of eyes for other than thine own face is no gain And weeping of eyes for other than thine own loss is all vain.

¹³ Our'an 7:54.

¹⁴ Al-Ghazāli says, in the Mizān al-ʿAmal: "Whoever thinks faith alone will suffice him, is ignorant of the meaning of faith." (p. 82).

as in our text, the phrase would read: "bankrupt, possessed by a jinn." The MSS. however, prefer which means "sinner". Hammer-Purgstall has translated the phrase: "wahnsinnig und bankernt" although his Arabic text reads:

¹⁶ Hasan al-Başri was born in Medîna, the son of a woman who was slave to one of Mohammed's wives. He received his liberty and removed to Başrah, where he became an ascetic and leader of orthodox theology, unfolding the doctrines of the Qur'ân in strictest terms. One of his pupils, Wâşil bin 'Ata withdrew from his master and is the reputed founder of the school of the Mu'tazilites. He died in 110/728.

VI. 1 In the Alchemy of Happiness, Ghazâli assigns this saying to the Caliph Omar. See Claude Field Alchemy of Happiness, London, 1910, p. 75.

^{2 &#}x27;Ali, cousin and son-in-law of the Prophet, the fourth Caliph in the Sunnite list, but accounted by all Shi'ite sects to be the first legitimate successor of the Prophet.

³ See Collation of Variant Readings, folio 93b., 1. 18. The contrast is between the attitude of the man who trusts in his faith alone and falsely feels secure and at ease, and the man who seeks to show his faith by his works (cf. James 2:18) and does thus actually receive God's approval.

⁴ In the Ithât, v. i, p. 12, this same saying is quoted, but the last phrase reads:
وقتَىٰ على الله المفرة

VII. 1 Abu Hurairah says, "The second (person to receive sentence on the day of the resurrection), a man who shall have obtained knowledge and instructed others, and read the Koran, He will be brought into the presence of God, and will be given to understand the benefits he had received, which he will be sensible of and confess: and God will say, 'What didst thou do in gratitude therefor?' He will reply, 'I learned knowledge and taught others, and I read the Koran to please thee.' Then God will say, 'Thou liest, but thou studiest that people might call thee learned, and thou didst read the Koran for the name of the thing.' Then God will order him to be dragged upon his face, and precipitated into hell." Quoted in Mishcât, v. i, p. 56. Cabbin Malic is quoted also as follows: "The Prophet said, 'he who desires knowledge in order to be honored in the world or to dispute with the ignorant, and to attract the notice of mankind, God will throw him into hell fire.'" Mishcât, v. i, p. 60.

² See Appended Note on The Wonders of the Heart.

VIII. O youth, live as you will, you are mortal !1 and love what you will, you will leave it! and do what you will, you will be rewarded accordingly ! 2

IX. O youth, so what have you gained from the acquisition of the science of dogmatic theology and from disputation and medicine and "diwans" and poetry and astronomy and prosody and syntax and morphology except squandering life? By the splendor of the Possessor of splendor, 1 assuredly I saw in the gospel of 'Isa, 2 upon our prophet and upon him be peace, (that) he said: "From the moment in which the dead is placed on the bier until he is placed on the edge of the tomb Allah the Exalted in His majesty3 will ask him forty questions; the first is, he will say: 'O my servant, you have purified (yourself in) the sight of mankind for years and not for one hour have you purified (yourself in) my sight, while every day I look in your heart; so I say, as for what you do for another, while you are encompassed by my good gifts, are you not deaf, unheeding?""

X. O youth, knowledge without work is insanity and work without knowledge is vanity (lit., cannot be). Know that any science which does not remove you today far from apostasy, and does not carry you to obedience, will not remove you tomorrow from the fire of Hell, and if you do not work today and do not amend the past days, you will say tomorrow in the day of resurrection, "Send us back, we will do good work other than what we were accustomed to do"; and it will be said to you, O thou stupid one, thence thou comest !

XI. O youth, let energy be in the spirit,1 defeat in the soul and

death in the body; for your abode is the grave and the people of the graves are awaiting you at every moment; take care, beware lest you arrive without provision for the journey. And Au Bakr2 the Veracious said, the pleasure of Allah upon him, "these bodies are a cage for birds {or} a stable for animals, so consider for yourself of which you are; if you are of the lofty birds, then when you hear the roll [of the drum], return, fly, climbing upward until you sit in the highest towers of the Garden. As said the Apostle of Allah, upon him blessing and peace, "the throne of the Compassionate shook at the death of Sa'îd bin Mu'âdh, the pleasure of Allah upon him."3 And seek refuge in Allah if you are of the beasts, as Allah the Exalted said, "These are like the cattle, but they go more astray."4 So do not consider yourself safe from removal from a corner of the court (of Paradise) to the depths of the fire.

It is told that Hasan el-Bașri, Allah the Exalted have mercy {upon him, was given a drink of cold water, and when he took the cup he swooned and the cup fell from his hand; and when he recovered he was asked, "What happened, O Abu Sa'id?" He replied, "I thought of the longing of the people of the fire when they say to the people of the Garden, Pour upon us from the water [{or from what Allah has bestowed upon you; they replied that Allah had forbidden these for the infidels]."

XII. O youth, if knowledge alone were sufficient for you and you did not need work besides, then would his summons1-Is there any who asks? and, is there any who seeks forgiveness? and, is there any who repents?—be lost without profit. It is related that a group of the Companions, the pleasure of Allah the Exalted upon them all, mentioned

VIII. 1 Abu-Bakr is reported to have said, "To every man saluted in the morning among his people, death is nearer than the lachet of his shoes." Ihya: Quarter II, Book 8, Section 2.

² Qur'an (28:84) says: "Whose doeth good shall have reward beyond its merits, and whoso doeth evil, they who do evil shall be rewarded only as they shall have wrought."

IX. 1 I follow the un-emended text here. See also the Collations of Arabic Texts at this point, folio 94a, l. 9.

² The Moslem world knows Jesus under the name of 'ssa. In the Qur'an he is called 'Isa, 'Isa son of Miriam, and the Messiah. He is also described as the Word of God (4:169), a Spirit of God (4:170; 19:31), Prophet (19:31), Illustrious in this World and the Next (3:40), and One of those who have near access to God (3:40).

³ The commentary of Khâdimi (published text C) explains this phrase: "apparently without the means of an angel".

¹ Our'an 32:12. X.

XI. 1 See Appended Note on The Wonders of the Heart. Cf. this with Paul's discussion of flesh, mind and spirit, in Rom. 7 and 8.

² Abu-Bakr was the father of 'Aîsha, whom Mohammed married when she was nine. He was one of Mohammed's first followers among the Quraysh, and the first Caliph or successor of Mohammed. He is praised for the purity of his life, and is called by Muslim writers, the Veracious.

³ Sa'id bin Mu'adh, was a chief of the Beni Aus. He embraced Islam at Medinah, and died of wounds received in battle of the Ditch AH 5. The tradition is a favorite one, quoted by many of the collectors of tradition. Ibn Hanbal refers to it in the Musnad, v. iii, pp. 23f., 234, 295f., 316, 327, 349; v. iv, p. 352; v. vi, pp. 329, 456. The name is preferably spelled Sa'd b. Mu'âz (سعد بن معاز)

XII. 1 The Qur'an says (40:62) "And your Lord saith, 'Call upon me-I will hearken unto you." And Ghazâli in the Ihyâ' (Book IV of Quarter I, Asrar al-Şalah) says, "He differs from kings, for all His unique majesty and grandeur, in inspiring His creation to ask and supplicate, for He says: 'Is there any who supplicates? I will answer him!' and, 'Is there any who asks forgiveness? I will forgive him !"

'Abdallah bin 'Umar,² the pleasure of Allah upon him, before the Apostle of Allah, upon whom be blessing and peace. He said, "An excellent man he, if only he would pray at night." And he said, upon him blessing and peace, to a man from his Companions, "Oh N. N., do not increase sleep at night, for much sleep leaves its owner poor in the day of resurrection."

XIII. O youth; "and awake at night to pray; [as a supererogatory¹ service] for you"²—a command; "and at dawn they were seeking pardon"³ —a praise;⁴ "and they who seek pardon at daybreak"⁵—a remembrance.⁶ The Prophet, Allah the Exalted bless him and give him peace, said,7 "Three voices Allah the Exalted loves: the voice of the cock³ and the voice of one who reads the Qur'ân, and the voice of those seeking forgiveness in the early morning." And Sufyân al-Thowri9 said:

"Allah the Exalted {created} a breeze which blows at the time of the dawn, which carries the invocations and the petitions for forgiveness to the Supreme¹o King." And he also said, "When it is the beginning of night the herald cried from below the throne, Up! let the worshippers arise! and they arise and pray what Allah the Exalted wills; then the herald cries at midnight, Up! let the fully devoted arise! and they arise and pray till dawn; and when it is dawn, the herald cries, Up! let those asking forgiveness arise! and they arise and seek forgiveness; and when the day breaks, the herald cries, Up! let the heedless arise! and they arise from their beds as the dead are resuscitated from their graves."

XIV. O youth, it is told in the testaments of Luqman¹ the Wise to his son that he said, "O my son, let not the cock be more clever than you—he cries at the time of dawn while you are sleeping!" Assuredly he did well who said:

The pigeon cooed in the darkness of night
On a branch, in weakness, while I was asleep.
I lied; for I swear that were I (His) loved
Not the pigeons alone, but I too would weep;
I think I am lovesick, excessively lovelorn
For my Lord—but I weep not, though animals weep!

XV. O youth, the substance of knowledge is to learn what are obedience and worship. Know that obedience and worship are conforming to the law in commands and prohibitions in word and deed—that is, whatever you say and do and omit in word and deed must be in emulation of the law-giver. Thus, if you fast on the feast day and the days of "tashriq" 1 you are rebellious; or (if you) pray in a garment taken by

^{2 &#}x27;Abdallah b. 'Umar b. al-Khattâb, eldest son of the Caliph 'Umar I, one of the most respected of the Companions, born before the Hijrah, d. A. II. 693. Through his intimate intercourse with Muhammed he acquired an exact knowledge of the early period of Islam, and he is the author of many trditions.

³ The tradition is related by Ibn Hanbal (Musnad, v. ii, p. 146). The story concludes, "And (after that) 'Abdallah slept very little at night."

and supererogatory فرائض and supererogatory علي and supererogatory

supererogatory prayers, since they show excessive zeal. Their performance secures reward, although the omitting of them is allowable and not punished. Book IV of Quarter I, Chap'er 7, of Ihyâ', deals with Supererogatory Worship. I retain the phrase in [] because it is found in most MSS., and is so in the Qur'ân.

² Qur'ân 17:81.

³ Qur'an 51:18.

⁴ Book II of Quarter IV of Ihyâ' deals with the subjects of Patience and Praise

⁵ Qur'an 3:15.

⁶ In Ihyà', Book IV of Quarter I, chapter 7 dealing with Supererogatory Worship, Ghazâli says: "During the time between the morning worship and the appearance of the sun the most liked thing is the remembrance (فكر) —also translated invocation) and meditation (فكر) and confining one's self to the two prostrations of the dawn and the prescribed worship." He also devotes Book IX of Quarter I of the Ihyà' to Remembrances (اذكار) and Invocations (دعوات). For a brief discussion of (ذكر) see Calverly pp. 31-32.

⁷ I fail to find the source of this traditional saying.

⁸ Because by its crowing it awakens sleepers to pray.

⁹ Abu 'Abd Allah Sufyan b. Sa'id b. Masrûk al-Thowri al-Kûfi, a celebrated theologian, traditionalist and ascetic of the second century A. H. He was one of the old school of pious men who showed their dislike of the new

regime by refusing to accept offices in the government service. Because of the wrath thus aroused he had to flee from Kûfa to Yamen, and finally to Başra, where he died in 161/778. He was one of the first to put into writing the traditions current in his time.

as applied to God to mean "The Compeller of his creatures to do whatsoever he willeth" or "The Compeller of his creatures to obey the commands and prohibitions which He pleaseth to impose upon them . . . it is also explained as meaning the Supreme; the High above His creatures; or the Unattainable."

XIV. 1 Luqman was a legendary figure of pre-Islamic paganism, famous for his wise sayings and fables. He is referred to in the Qur'an, Sûrah 31.

XV. ايام الشريق 17his phrase refers to the 11th, 12th and 13th days of Dhu-l-Hijjeh, following the day of sacrifice, because the flesh of the victims was cut into strips and spread in the sun to dry; or because the victims were not sacrificed until the sun rose; or from the prayer of the day of sacrifice, which they follow. It is said in a tradition that these are days of eating and drinking and celebrating the praises of Allah. (See Lane A E L).

violence, though it has the form of worship, yet you sin.

XVI. O youth, so it is essential that your word and deed be in agreement with the law, since knowledge and work without emulation of the law-giver is a delusion. And it is essential that you be not deceived by the ecstatic utterances and vehement cries of the Sûfis, because walking this road is by struggle² and cutting off the lusts of the soul and killing its desires with the sword of discipline, not by vehement cries and idle words. And know that the loosened tongue⁴ and the veiled heart filled with negligence and lust, is the sign of misery, so that if you do not kill the fleshly soul with sincere struggle, you will not quicken your heart by the lights of knowledge.⁵

And know that certain of your questions which you asked me cannot be answered in writing and in speech; if you attain that state you will know what they are; and if not, knowing them is impossible; for they are known by experience, 6 and whatever is known by experience cannot be described in words, as the sweetness of the sweet or the bitterness of the bitter cannot be known except by experience. As it is said that an impotent man wrote to a friend. "Tell me about the delight of sexual intercourse, how it is." And he wrote in answer, "Oh N. N., I have accounted you only

impotent, but now I know that you are both impotent and foolish; assuredly this delight is known by experience; if you attain it you will know it, and if not, it cannot be described in writing or speech."

XVII. O youth, certain of your questions are of this sort; but the portion which can be answered we have mentioned in The Vitalizing of the Sciences of Religion and elsewhere [in what we have written, with its explanation, so seek it there]; and we will mention here a portion of them and point them out. And we say: [for the traveller in the way of truth seven things are necessary] the first is, a true conviction that has in it no heresy; and the second, a sincere repentance, after which you do not return to sin; and third, the satisfaction of adversaries, so that there shall remain to no one a claim against you; and the fourth, the attainment of a knowledge of the laws, sufficient that by it you may perform the commands of Allah the Exalted; then of the sciences of future things, what is essential for salvation [and more than this is not obligatory;1 and this saying will be understood by a story]. It is told that Shibli,2 the mercy of Allah, upon him, said: "I served four hundred professors and read four thousand traditions; then I selected from them a single tradition by which I worked, and left off the others; for I meditated and found my salvation and safety in it, and all the knowledge of the ancients and the moderns was included in it, and I was content with it; and that was, that the Apostle, Allah bless him and give him peace, said to one of his Companions, "Work for your world according to your position in it, and work for your other world according to the length of your remaining in it, and work for Allah the Exalted according to your need of Him, and work for the fire according to your endurance it it." 3

XVIII. O youth, if you know {[work by]} this tradition there is no need of further knowledge; and think upon another story, namely, that Hâtim al-Aṣamm¹ was among the friends of Shaqîq al-Balkhi,2

XVI. 1 See Appended Note on The "Way" of the Moslem Mystic.

² God has said 'Those who strive to the utmost (jāhadu) for Our sake, we will guide them into our ways'. (Qur'an 29:29). And the Prophet said: 'The mujāhid is he who struggles with all his might against himself (jāhada nafsahu) for God's sake'. And he also said 'We have returned from the lesser war (al-jihād al-asphar) to the greater war (al-jihād al-akbar)'. On being asked, 'What is the greater war?' he replied, 'It is the struggle against one's self' (mujāhadat al-nafs).—Quoted in Hujwiri's Kashf al-Mahjūb, p. 200.

³ Book II of Quarter III of Ihya' treats of the Discipline of the Soul, the Nurture of the Character and the Cure for the Sicknesses of the Heart.

⁴ Ghazâli, in Ihyâ', Book VII, Quarter I, c. 3, says, "... the moving of the tongue in nonsense is easy for the negligent!... The object is uttering letters in so far as they are intelligent, and they do not become intelligent unless they express what is in the consciousness, and they do not become such an expression except the heart be present. And what supplication is there in saying 'Guide us in the straight road', if the heart is negligent.... For what hardship is there in moving the tongue with it, if the heart be negligent." Book 4 of Quarter III treats of the Evils of the Tongue.

⁵ The Arabic word is موقة . See Appended Note on The Wonders of the Heart.

⁶ The Arabic word is . See Appended Note on The "Way" of the Moslem Mystic.

XVII. 1 But cf. Section xix 1. 1 ff. There is confusion if the glosses are accepted.

² Abu Bakr Dulâf al-Shibli, a Sunni Mystic born in Bagbdâd, and died there in 334/945. He was first an official of the government, but later became an ascetic and Mystic. His vagaries were so pronounced that for a time he was confined in a lunatic asylum.

³ I do not find the source of this traditional saying.

XVIII. 1 Abu 'Abd al-Rahmân Hâtim b. 'Unnân al-Aşamm, died 237/851. Al-Hujwiri says (p. 115) "He was one of the great men of Balkh and one of the ancient shaykhs of Khorasan, a disciple of Shaqîq. . . Junayd said, 'Hâtim al-Aşamm is the veracious one of our time.'"

² Shaqiq b. Ibrahîm al-Balkhi was one of the earliest group of Mystics, who

the mercy of Allah upon them both. [It occurred to him] and he (Shaqîq) asked him one day, and said: "These thirty years you have associated with me-what have you gained in them?" He replied, "I have gained eight benefits from science and they suffice me with it, because I hope for my salvation and safety in them." And Shaniq said, "What are they?" And Hâtim replied:

"The first benefit is that I observed mankind and saw that everyone had a loved one and one passionately desired whom he loved and longed for; and certain of those loved accompanied him to the illness of death and others to the border of the tomb, then each returned and left him alone and lonely, and there did not enter with him into the tomb and comfort him in it { [one of them; so I considered and said, the most excellent beloved of man is what enters into the tomb and comforts him in it] \(\}^3; and I found it to be nothing else than good works, so I took this as my beloved, [to be] a light for me in my grave, and to comfort me in it and not leave me alone.

"The second benefit is that I saw that mankind were following their lusts and hastening towards the desires of their souls, and I meditated on the saying of the Exalted-"But as for whoever has feared the majesty of his Lord, and has refrained his soul from lust, truly the Garden shall be his dwelling place."4 And I was convinced that the Qur'an was sincere truth and so I hastened to deny my soul and hurried to combat it and refuse it its passionate desires so that it become trained to obedience to Allah the Exalted, and it became tractable.

"And the third benefit is that I saw that everyone of the people struggled to collect the vanities of the world, then he seized them, closing his hand upon them. So I reflected upon the saying of the Exalted. "What is with you vanishes, but what is with Allah abides." 5 So I gave freely my worldly possessions for the face of Allah6 the Exalted and distributed them among the poor to be a treasure for me with Allah the Exalted.

"The fourth benefit is that I saw that certain of mankind thought their honor and their glory to be in the multitude of their family and their kinsfolk and they were beguiled by them, while others considered this to be in their wealth of riches and the multitude of children [and property] and they boasted [of this]; and a portion reckoned glory [and honor] to consist in seizing the riches of people by violence and oppressing them and shedding their blood; and a section believed that it lay in squandering riches and in dissipating them and in prodigality. And I meditated upon the saying of the Exalted, "The most worthy of you in the sight of Allah is he who fears him most."7 So I chose reverent fear and was convinced that the Qur'an is sincere truth and their thoughts and reckonings were empty and fleeting.

"The fifth benefit is that I saw that certain of the people censured one another and slandered one another and I saw that this arose from envy in the matter of riches and rank and knowledge, and I meditated upon the saying of the Exalted: "It is we who divide their substance among them in this world's life."8 And I knew that the division was from Allah the Exalted [in eternity, so I did not envy anyone and I was satisfied with the distribution of Allah the Exalted].9

"The sixth benefit is that I saw the people treat one another with enmity for a motive or purpose; and so I meditated upon the saying of the Exalted: "Truly Satan is your enemy; for an enemy then hold him."10 And so I knew that enmity was not permissible to any other than Satan.

"The seventh benefit is that I saw that everyone struggled energetically and endeavored excessively to seek provisions and a means of living, from which he fell into doubt and forbidden things and debased himself and diminished his worth. And I meditated upon the saying of the Exalted: "There is no moving thing on earth whose nourishment dependeth not upon Allah."11 And so I knew that my provision depended on Allah and he had guaranteed it, so I busied myself in worshipping him, and cut off my covetousness of all else than He.

died before 200/815. He laid special stress on trust (نوكيل), which is practically synonymous with complete passivity. One of his sayings, quoted in Nicholson's Literary History of the Arabs, p. 233, is "Nine-tenths of devotion consists in flight from mankind, the remaining tenth in silence." Al-Hujwiri says (p. 111) he was "versed in all the sciences... and composed many works on various branches of Sûfîism."

³ This line is omitted in our text, evidently an error of homoeoteleuton.

⁵ Qur'an 16:98, Cf. also Luke 12:21. 4 Qur'an 79:40, 41.

⁶ For a discussion of the expression "face of Allah" see Macdonald, Aspects of Islam, pp. 186 ff., 201 f.

⁷ Our'an 49:13.

⁸ Our'an 43:31.

⁹ This line is omitted in our text, evidently also an error of homoeoteleuton.

¹⁰ Our'an 35:6.

¹¹ Qur'an 11:8.

"The eighth benefit is that I saw that everyone relied on some created thing, some on the dinâr¹² and dirhem, some on {[wealth and]} property, some on trade and craft, and some on a similar created thing. And I meditated upon the saying of the Exalted: "Truly whosoever putteth his trust in Allah, He will be sufficient. Truly Allah will attain his purpose. He has made for everything a fixed period."¹¹³ So I relied upon Allah and he is my sufficiency and an excellent guardian.¹¹4

And Shaqiq said, "Allah grant you success; 15 [O Ḥātim verily I have considered the Taurah and the Evangel and the Psalms and the Qur'an and I have found that the four books turn upon these eight benefits, and whoever works according to them is working according to these four books."]

XIX. O youth, you have perceived from these two words¹ that you are not in need of multiplying knowledge, and now I will show you what is obligatory for the traveller in the path of truth. Know that it is indispensable for the traveller to have a shaykh as guide and tutor, to expel from him the evil qualities by his training and to replace them with an excellent character; and the meaning of training resembles {[the act of]} the plowman who digs out the thorns and removes the wild plants [from among the sown] to stimulate its growth and make it thrive perfectly, [for Allah the Exalted sent to his worshipper his Apostle for guidance to his path and when he, upon him peace, departed from the world he left behind him the Caliphs in his place, in order that they should guide mankind to Allah, because of this function].2 And it is

necessary for the traveller to have a shaykh to train him and guide him to the path of Allah. And the sign of the shaykh who is fitted to be the substitute for the Prophet, upon him be blessing and peace, is that he be learned-not that every learned one is fitted for it; and I will show you certain indications in a general way so that not every one shall pretend he is a learned guide. And we say, one who removes himself far from love of the world and love of rank, and has succeeded a discerning3 person who traces his successorship to the Lord of the apostles, and has excelled in disciplining himself in scarcity of food and sleep and speech and in abundance of prayer and alms and fasting, and who, in following the discerning shaykh, is making the good qualities of character his way of life, such as endurance and thanksgiving and trustfulness and conviction and generosity and contentment and tranquility of soul and moderation and humility and knowledge and veracity and modesty and trustworthiness and gravity and quietness and staidness and similar traits; and then he is light from the lights of the Prophet, upon him be blessing and peace, and he is worthy to be imitated; but the presence of such as he is rare, more precious than red sulphur.4 And whomever fortune aids to find a shaykh such as we have mentioned, and the shaykh accepts him, he must honor him outwardly and inwardly.5

Now outward honor is that he should not dispute with him and not labor in argumentation with him {[in every question even if he knows his (the shaykh's) mistake, and should not put down his prayer carpet before him except at the time of the instituting of prayer, and when he finishes should lift it up]}, and should not multiply the supererogatory6 prayers in his presence, and should do what the shaykh commands him according to his capacity and his ability.

But inner honor is that all he hears and accepts from him outwardly he should not deny inwardly, neither in deed nor in word, lest he be branded? with hypocrisy; and if this be not possible, that he should

¹² The dinâr was the standard gold coin and the dirham the standard silver coin of the Arabs, whose value varied from time to time. The use of the two together is roughly the equivalent of the modern American expression "the Almighty Dollar", or the more classical expression "gold and silver".

¹³ Qur'an 65:3.

signifies a steward or trustee or deputy. But as applied to Allah, it is in the sense of protector or guardian. Cf. Qur'an 3:167; 6:102; 11:15; 12:66.

¹⁵ Hammer-Purgstall translates these words "Gott hat dich mit Seiner Vorsicht geleitet." But the Arabic وفقك إلله is the regular use of the perfect tense to express wishes, prayers or curses.

حكايتين a.o. كليتين XIX. 1 MSS. 1 and 2 read

² This section [] seems to be required by the reference to the "substitute for the Prophet" four lines below. It is omitted by MSS. 3, 4, 12, 18, 21, 23, 24, 25. If it belongs to the original text, I venture to suggest that it is misplaced in MSS. 1 and 2 margin, and should be inserted after the sentence immediately following.

عصبر instead of بصبر

⁴ The Commentary of Khâdimi says, "This is said to be stone which shines by night. It is told that Solomon placed a piece in the dome of the temple and it gave light for a distance of a mile so that the women could spin wool by its light."

⁵ Al-Ghazâli discusses the duties of teacher and taught at length in the Ihyâ', Quarter I, Book I, c. 5; also in the Mîzân al-'Amal and in the Badâyat al-Hidâyah.

⁶ See Section XIII; note 1.

⁷ Hammer-Purgstall translates the verb as though it were "vergiftet werde", deriving it from instead of from وبيم

desert his companionship until his inner life agrees with his outer; and he should guard against association with the evil man so that he may curtail the province of the Satans of the "jinn" and mankind from the court of his heart, and may be purified from the stain of Satanic filth; and at all events he will prefer poverty more than wealth.

Then know that becoming a Sûfi has two characteristics: uprightness with Allah the Exalted, and quietness with mankind; and whoever is upright, and improves his character among the people, and treats them with forbearance, he is a Sûfi. And uprightness is that he offer the pleasures of his soul as a ransom for the sake of his soul; and goodness of conduct among men is that you do not burden people according to your own desire, but burden yourself according to their desire so long as they do not violate the sacred law.

Then you asked me about devotion; it comprises three things; first, the careful observance of the command of the sacred law; second, satisfaction with decree and fate and the lot of Allah the Exalted; and third, forsaking pleasing yourself in order to seek the pleasure of Allah the Exalted.

And you asked me about trust: 10 it is that you seek to fortify your belief in Allah the Exalted as to what he has promised; that is, that you believe that what he has fated for you will come to you without fail, although anyone in the world endeavors to prevent it; and what is not written for you, you shall not attain, though all the world help you.

And you asked me about sincerity: 11 it is that all your works be done for Allah the Exalted, your heart not resting content with the praise of people nor despairing with their censure. Know that hypocrisy is born from exalting mankind and the cure is that you see them forced to labor 12 under the decree (of Allah) and reckon them like inanimate

objects in their inability to attain contentment and misery, in order to escape from hypocrisy in their sight; and as long as you reckon them as possessing power and free will, hypocrisy will not be far from you.

XX. O youth, the remainder of your questions—a portion are covered in my writings, so seek them there; and setting down others in writing is forbidden: work by what you know, there will be revealed to you what you do not know.1

XXI. O youth, after today ask me what is obscure for you (only) by the tongue of the heart. The saying of the Exalted, "and had they waited patiently until you came forth to them, it had been better for them." And accept the admonition of Khiḍr, upon our Prophet and upon him be blessing and peace, "And do not ask me about anything until I mention it unto you." And do not be in a hurry to reach the time, when it shall be revealed to you. And have you seen, "I will show you my signs so do not be in a hurry." So do not ask me before the time. And be certain that you will not reach (that time) except by travelling. "Have they not travelled through the earth, and seen?" 6

XXII. O youth, by Allah, if you travel, you shall see the wonders in every station. Give your spirit unsparingly, for the core of this matter

⁸ This phrase is difficult to translate concisely and accurately. The point is that he should deny the lusts and desires of his fleshly soul, in order to redeem his higher soul for Allah.

⁹ There is a traditional saying to the effect that when a man is satisfied with Allah's decrees, it is a sign that Allah is satisfied with him.

¹⁰ Book 5 and Quarter IV of the Ihya' treats of the Unity of God and Trust.

¹¹ Book VII of Quarter IV of the Ihya' treats of Sincerity and Veracity.

¹² Two interpretations are possible here, either, see them forced to labor under the decree of Allah; or, see them laughing-stocks under the decree of Allah. Hammer-Purgstall takes this latter meaning, and translates the phrase, 'das du sie betrachtest als Fratzen der Macht.' But this translation requires the Arabic word معربين while the MSS. give which is the regularly employed word for forced labor.

XX. 1 When Dawud Ta'i had acquired learning and become a famous authority, he went to Abu Ḥanîfah and said to him: "What shall I do now?" Abu Ḥanîfah replied: "Practice what you have learned, for theory without practice is like a body without a spirit."—Hujwiri's Kashf al-Maḥjûb, p. 95.

which may mean either: (1) the tongue of the Garden مليان الخان or (2) the tongue of the heart, or oì the veil المجان I have accepted the latter, following the two vowelled MSS. 18 and 22, and the Commentary of Khâdimi, which explains this as "the tongue of a State."

² Qur'an 49:5.

³ A mysterious person, identified with Elijah, or St. George, supposed to have drunk from the fountain of life, located in the S. W. quarter of the earth, in the Zulumât or darkness of the Muḥit, the regions surrounding the known (to Ārabs) inhabited earth. As a result, he still lives, and will live to the day of Judgment. But tradition makes him originally a just man and saint, wazīr and counsellor of the first Dhū-l-Qurnain, a universal conqueror, contemporary of Abraham. He appears to Muslims in perplexity, usually clad in green. In the day time, he wanders on sea and directs travellers who go astray; Elijah does the same for travellers in mountains or deserts, for those led away by the Ghūl. See Lane TON v.i., p. 21.

⁴ Qur'ân 18:69. 5 Qur'ân 21:38.

⁶ The verse in full reads: "Have they not travelled through the earth, and seen the end of those who were before them?" Qur'an 30:6.

is in applying your spirit abundantly; as said Dhu 'l-Nûn al Musri, I the mercy of Allah, to one of the students, "If you are able to give your spirit without reserve, come; and if not, then do not busy yourself with the idle practices of Mysticism."

XXIII. O youth, verily I admonish you in eight things; receive them from me lest your knowledge become your adversary in the day of resurrection. Perform four of them and avoid four of them. These you are to avoid are, first, do not argue with any one in any matter, as far as you are able, for in this is great mischief, and its evil is greater than its benefit, since it is the source of every blameworthy quality: such as hypocrisy and envy and pride and malice and enmity and boasting and other such. Of course, if there arises a question between you and an individual or group and it is your purpose in it that the truth should appear and not be lost, discussion is permissible. But there are two signs of such a desire, first that it makes no difference whether the truth is revealed by your tongue or the tongue of another; 2 and second, that discussion in private is preferred by you rather than in public.

And listen, for here I call your attention to a helpful point: know that the question about obscure points is the presenting of the disease of the heart³ to a physician, and its answer is the attempt to cure⁴ his disease. And know that the ignorant are diseased in their hearts and the learned⁵ are the doctors, and the partially learned cannot perfect the treatment; and the perfectly learned does not treat every sick person, but every one who will, he hopes, accept the treatment and the cure. And if the weakness is chronic or fatal, (and) incurable, then he will not labor to give medicine, for this is a waste of time.

Then know that the sickness of ignorance is of four sorts, one curable and the others incurable.⁶ Of these which cannot be cured, [the first] is one whose question or objection arises from envy and hate, [and envy cannot be cured for it is a chronic weakness] and every time you answer him with the best or clearest or plainest answer, that only increases his rage and envy. And the way is not to attempt an answer.

One hopes for the removal of every enmity Except enmity arising from envy.

So you must depart from him and leave him with his disease. Allah the Exalted said, "Withdraw from whoever turns away from our warning and desires nothing except the present life." And the envious, both in all he says and in all he does, kindles [a fire] in the sowing of his deed: as the Prophet said, Allah bless him and grant him peace, "Envy eats up excellences as fire eats up wood."

The second, whose weakness arises from stupidity, and he also is incurable. As 'Isa said, upon him be peace, 'Indeed I did not fail in bringing the dead to life, but I failed in curing the stupid." And he is the man who has busied himself in seeking knowledge a short time and has learned something of the sciences of the intellect and of the sacred law, and so he asks questions and raises objections in his stupidity before the very learned one who has spent his life in the sciences of the intellect and the sacred law, and so this very stupid fellow does not know, and thinks that what is obscure to him is also obscure to the highly learned; and since he does not think this much, his question arises from stupidity, and you must not attempt to answer him.

And the third is one who is seeking guidance and whatever he does not understand of the speech of the great ones, he lays to the defects of his own understanding and his question is in order to seek benefit; but he is dull and cannot arrive at the truth of things. You must not attempt to answer him also, as the Prophet, Allah bless him and give him peace, said, "We, the company of the prophets have been commanded that we speak to the people according to their understanding." 10

XXII. 1 Abu 'l-Fayd Thawbân b. Ibrahîm, to whom the sobriquet Dhû 'l-Nûn (the Possessor of the Fish) was given because of one of his miracles, was of Nubian extraction. He is considered by the Mystics to be the primary author of their formulated doctrines. He died in Baghdad in 246/860.

XXIII. 1 Hammer-Purgstall translates this phrase very freely in the opposite sense, "vielleicht hilft dir deine Wissenschaft am Tage des Gerichts."

² The Imâm al-Shâfi'i (d 204/820) is quoted in Alf Laylah wa-Laylah, night 84, as saying: "I never disputed with anyone but for the showing forth of the truth, and I care not whether Allah manifest it by my tongue or by his."

³ Book I of Quarter III of Ihya' treats of the wonders of the heart, and one section of Book II of this Quarter discusses the signs of sicknesses of the heart. See the Appended Notes.

⁴ The text is grammatically unsound and should read معى لاصلاح as do other MSS.

⁵ The insertion of j is an error; the text should read as do other MSS.

⁶ The marginal gloss at this point (f. 97b., l. 4) is plainly out of place; it appears in the text, f. 97b., ll. 17-19.

⁷ Qur'an 53:30.

⁸ I do not find the source of this traditional saying.

⁹ I do not find the source of this traditional saying.

¹⁰ This saying is also ascribed to 'Ali b. Abi Tâlib. See MacDonald, The Life of al-Ghazzâli, in JAOS, v. xx, p. 132.

But the sickness which is curable is that of the intelligent and understanding seeker of guidance, who is not overcome with envy and anger and the love of worldly vanities and wealth and honor, but is seeking the straight road; and his questions and objections do not arise from envy and a desire to cause trouble and to make trial. And he is curable, and it is permitted to attempt to answer him—nay, it is necessary.

And the second thing to avoid is to guard against and shun becoming a preacher¹¹ and warner, since its michief is much unless you practice what you preach first and then preach it to the people; and consider what was said to 'Isa, upon him be peace, "O Son of Miriam, preach to yourself, and when you have preached to yourself, then preach to others; and otherwise, be ashamed before your Lord."12 And if you are impelled to try this work, then guard against two conditions: the first is affectation in speech in explanations and allusions¹³ and vehement cries and versification and poetry because Allah the Exalted hates pretension, and the person pretentious beyond bounds gives evidence of inner confusion and a heedless heart. And the significance of warning is that the worshipper remember the fire of the future (world) so that he confine himself to the service of the Creator, and that he consider his past life which he dissipated in what did not concern him, and that he consider what is before him of obstacles to the security of faith at the end (of life) and what will be his condition in the grasp of the angel of death and will he be able to reply to Munkar and Nakîr¹⁴ and that he be concerned with his condition in the resurrection and its stations, and will he pass

across the bridge15 safely or fall into the pit; and {the memory of} these things will remain in his heart and disturb his tranquility; and stirring up these fires and lamenting over these afflictions is called "warning"; and giving notice to mankind and calling their attention to these things and warning them about shortcomings and omissions and causing them to see the defects of their souls, so that the heat of these fires touch the people of the assembly, and these afflictions make them impatient to rectify the past years according to their ability, and they feel regret over the days passed in other than obedience to Allah the Exalted—all this carried out in this way is called "preaching".

It is as though you saw that a torrent was rushing suddenly upon the house of someone and he and his family were in it and you cried, "Danger, danger, flee from the flood"—And would your heart in such circumstances crave to give your message to the master of the house with pretentious explanations and witticisms and allusions? Certainly not at all. And so is the condition of the preacher and he must avoid such things.

And the second condition (to avoid) is that your concern in preaching be not that mankind become wrought up in your assembly and show excitement and tear their clothes, so that it be said "What an assembly this was": for all this is an inclination to the things of the world, 16 { [and is born from heedlessness; but your purpose and concern must be to call the people from this world] } to the future world and from apostasy to obedience, and from cupidity to abstinence, and from stinginess to generosity, and from vanities to the fear of God, and to cause them to love the future life and to hate the world, and to teach them knowledge of worship and asceticism; because the predominating tendency in their nature is deviation from the plain road of the law and exertion in that in which Allah the Exalted does not take pleasure, and busying themselves with their evil characteristics. Cast fear into their hearts and frighten them and warn them about what they will meet of terrifying things; if perchance the qualities of their inner lives shall be changed and the deeds

^{11 &}quot;I do not think myself worthy to preach; for preaching is like a tax, and the property on which it is imposed is the accepting of preaching to one's self. He, then, who has no property, how shall he pay the tax? And he who lacks a garment, how shall he cover another? And 'when is the shadow straight and the wood crooked?" And God revealed to 'Isa (upon him be peace!) 'Preach to thyself; then, if thou acceptest the preaching, preach to mankind, and if not, be ashamed before me.' "—An extract from a letter said by al-Sim'âni to have been written by al-Ghazâli, quoted in S M v. i, p. 12.

¹² I do not find the source from which this traditional saying is quoted. Al-Ghazâli quotes it also in the Ihyâ', v. i, p. 47, and elsewhere. See also preceding note. Cf. also with Lk. 4:23.

¹³ See Translation Section iv, footnote 5.

¹⁴ These are two angels who examine all the dead, and torture the wicked in their graves. The body of the deceased is placed on his right side so that his face is turned toward Mecca. At the grave, some one is appointed to dictate to the deceased the answers he is to make to these two angels. Book IX of Quarter IV of Ihyâ' is devoted to the subject of Meditation and one section deals with the questions of Munkar and Nakir.

¹⁵ The bridge extending over the midst of Hell, finer than a hair, sharper than the edge of a sword. All creatures must pass over it on the day of judgment, the people of Paradise "passing over it with their works, some like the blinding lightning, and some like the wind sent forth, and some like coursers, and some running, and some walking, and some dragging themselves along; . . . and the fire will say to the believer, "Pass thou over, O believer, for thy light hath extinguished my flame", and thereupon, the feet of the people of the fire will slip"—Lane in A E L, quoting from Tāj-el-'Aroos. See also Ihyâ', Book X, Quarer IV, a section near the close of c. 8.

¹⁶ Here also a line is omitted in the text, through homoeoteleuton.

of their outer lives shall be transformed and there appear a craving and desire for obedience and a return from apostasy. And this is the method of preaching and of admonition, and all preaching which is not of this sort is a pest for both him who speaks and him who hears; nay, it is even said to be a ghûll and a satan, which carries off mankind on the road, and destroys them; and they must flee from it, because what this speaker corrupts of their religion, Satan himself is not able to do; and whoever has power and authority must bring him down from the pulpits of the Muslims and forbid him from what he has proclaimed,—on account of the word "enjoining fairness and forbidding evil." 18

And the third thing to avoid is not to mix with the princes and Sultans¹⁹ and not to see them; for seeing them and sitting with them and mixing with them is great mischief; and if you are impelled to do this, avoid praising them and commending them, for Allah the Exalted is angered when an oppressor and an impious man is praised and whoever has called for the lengthening of their lives has delighted that Allah be disobeyed in his land.

And the fourth thing to avoid is not to accept anything of the gifts and presents of princes,²⁰ though you know it is permissible, because coveting things from them corrupts religion, since there is born from it flattery and "kotowing" to them and approving of their oppression, and all this is corruption of religion; and the least of its evils is that if you

accept their gifts and benefit from their world, you become fond of them; and whoever loves one necessarily loves the prolonging of his life and presence, and in loving the continuance of the life of the oppressor there is a willingness for the oppression of the worshippers of Allah the Exalted and a willingness for the ruination of the learned man. And what is more injurious than this to religion, and the future life? Have a care—have a care—lest the fascination of the Satan prove deceptive. Or some one will say to you that it is better and preferable to take the gold and silver from them and distribute it among the poor and needy; for they are disbursing it in profligacy and apostacy, and your spending it upon the weak among the people is better than their spending it; and verily the Cursed One has cut off the necks of many people by this evil whispering; 21 and its mischief is excessive. We have mentioned this in the Vitalizing of the Sciences of Religion, so seek it there.

Now the four things you must do are first: that you make your dealings with Allah the Exalted such that, if your servant acted thus with you, you would be pleased with him and you would not withdraw your good will from him nor become angry; and what you are not pleased with for yourself in your paid servant, Allah the Exalted is not pleased with in you, and He is your true Lord; second, in all your dealings with people, treat them as you would be pleased to be treated by them, because the faith of a worshipper is not complete until he loves for other people what he loves for himself; third, if you read or study science, it must be a science which corrects your heart and purifies your soul; as if you knew that your life would not be prolonged more than a week, necessarily you would not busy youself in it in the science of jurisprudence and argumentation and rudimentary principles and scholastic theology and such like, because you know these sciences would not enrich you, but you would busy yourself in guarding your heart and in apprehending the attribute of the soul, and removal from the entanglements of the world, and the purification of your soul from the blameworthy moral qualities, and you would busy yourself in the love of Allah the Exalted and his worship, and in being distinguished with good qualities; and not a single day or night passes upon the worshipper but that it is possible his death may occur in it.22

XXIV. O youth, hear from me another word and consider it, that you may find salvation. If you were informed that within a week the

¹⁷ Ghûl—one of the inferior order of evil jinn, that eats men; described by some as an enchanter who assumes various forms—animals, human beings, monstrous shapes; haunts burial grounds; kills and devours any human creature who falls in its way; appears to travellers at night in lonely places in guise of a fellow-traveller. An authority says, "Ghûl is any Jinni that is opposed to travellers, and assumes various forms and appearances." Properly speaking, it is applied only to a female demon; the male is called qutrub. See Lane TON, v. i, p. 32.

¹⁸ This phrase occurs frequently in the Qur'an; cf. e.g. 3:100, 106, 110; 7:156, etc. Ghazâli in Ihyâ' Book IX, Quarter II, discusses this subject fully.

¹⁹ A Sultan is higher than king or viceroy, and has kings and viceroys under him. Chapter 6 of Book IV and chapter 4 of Book IX, of Quarter II of the Ihyâ', deal with Intercourse with Sultans.

^{20 &#}x27;Abdullah Ibn 'Abbas d. 68/687, one of the Companions of the Prophet, relates that the Prophet said, "Verily some of the people of my sect learn the knowledge of religion and read the Qur'an; and say, we will go to the great, and take something of the world from them, and retire from them with our own religion. But such things cannot be; like as the tree of thorns from which nothing can be gathered but thorns, in such manner nothing can be gathered from the society of the great but sin and vice." Mishcât ul-Maṣābìh, vol. i, p. 66. Similarly it is reported (Alf Lailah wa-Lailah, night 84) that Abu Ḥanifa (d. 150/767) refused a salary from the Caliph, 'lest the love of tyrants get a hold on my heart."

²¹ One chapter of Book I, Quarter III of the Ihyâ' discusses the Rule of Satan over the heart by whisperings; their meaning; and how to overcome them.

²² Cf. Translation Section viii.

Sultan would come to visit you, I know that in that time you would busy yourself only in the rectification of what you knew the sight of the Sultan would fall upon, in the matter of the clothing and the body and the house and the furnishings and other things. And now consider to what I refer, for you have understanding and a single word suffices the clever. The Apostle of Allah, Allah bless him and grant him peace, said: "Verily Allah the Exalted does not look upon your form nor upon your deeds, but he looks upon your hearts and your intentions." And if you desire knowledge of the states of the heart, look in the Vitalizing of the Sciences of Religion² and other of my writings. This knowledge is required of all, and other knowledge is required of some, except what fulfills the ordinances of Allah the Exalted; Allah grant you success that you attain it.

And the fourth (thing to do) is that you do not gather from the world more than the sufficiency of a year, as the Apostle of Allah, Allah bless him and give him peace, prepared for certain of his rooms,4 and he said: "O Allah, make the provision of the family of Mohammed sufficient." And he did not prepare that for every room, but he would prepare it for her in whose heart he knew there was weakness (of faith), but for her who was a steadfast companion, he would not prepare for her {except} the necessities of a day and a half.

XXV. O youth, truly I have written in this treatise what you have requested, and you must do what is in it; and do not forget to mention me in your righteous petitions; but the supplication you asked from me1

seek in the supplications of the perfect. And recite this supplication in its times, especially at the conclusion of your prayers:

O Allah, truly I seek from thee of grace the most perfect, and of protection the most abiding, and of mercy the most encompassing, and of forgiveness its attainment, and of living the most comforting, and of life the happiest, and of beneficence the most perfect, and of blessing the most general, and of favor the sweetest, and of kindliness the most beneficial. O Allah, be for us and be not against us. O Allah, seal with happiness our appointed time and confirm in excess our hopes, and unite in forgiveness our mornings and our evenings, and bring to thy mercy our final state and what is for us, and pour out the gift of thy pardon upon our transgressions, and bestow upon us the correction of our blemishes, and make piety our provision for the journey; in thy religion is our endeavor, and upon thee is our trust and our confidence. Fix us firmly upon the path of uprightness and protect us in this world from acts necessitating regrets on the day of judgment and lighten on us the burden of the sins and bestow upon us the life of the righteous, and avert and dispel from us the evils and set free our necks and the necks of our fathers and our mothers from the fire in thy mercy, O thou Illustrious One, thou Coverer of sins, thou Gracious One, thou Forgiving One, thou Benevolent One, thou Mighty One, O Allah, O Allah, thou Most Compassionate of the Compassionate, and in Him we trust.

XXIV. 1 I fail to find the source of this traditional saying. It is very reminiscent of the word of I Sam. 16:7.

² Ihyâ', Book I of Quarter III.

³ It is impossible to translate the two Arabic expressions فرض عين and

with two equivalent phrases. The first is explained as "that whereof the observance is obligatory on every one, and does not become of no force in respect of some in consequence of the observance of some;" the latter is that "whereof the observance is obligatory on the collective body of the Muslims, and in consequence of the observance by some, becomes of no force in respect of the rest." Lane in AET, quoting from Taj-el-'Aroos.

⁴ The reference is evidently to the time when Mohammed lived in Medînah and his residence consisted of rooms built along the inside of the walls surrounding the whole enclosure. In each room or "house" dwelt different ones of his wives or relatives.

⁵ I do not find the source of this traditional saving.

XXV. 1 See Translation Section I, footnote 12.

APPENDICES

I. APPENDED NOTES

A. AL GHAZÂLI'S "THE VITALIZING OF THE SCIENCES OF RELIGION".

Al-Ghazâli's best known work is entitled *Ihyâ' 'Ulûm al-Dîn*, that is, *The Vitalizing of the Sciences of Religion*. It was written at some time during his period of retirement from public life, in Syria or in Palestine. The first period of his retirement was spent in Damascus, and perhaps also a later period, after his pilgrimage to Mecca; tradition says that in Damascus he composed the *Ihyâ'*, and also taught it in the school attached to the Umawi mosque. Al-Sayyid Murtada¹ mentions this work first in the list of al-Ghazâli's writings for the following reasons: first, because its name heads the alphabetical list of works; second, because of its honor over other books for what it contains of the knowledge of future things; third, its world-wide fame, like the journey of the sun in its passage; so that it is said, "Though all other Muslim books should vanish and the *Ihyâ'* remained, there would be no need of what had disappeared."

The edition of the *Ihyâ'* published in Cairo² consists of four large volumes, and contains more than 1,000 closely printed pages. The first two volumes deal with the Outer Practices of Religion, acts of devotion and religious usage; the latter two with the Inner Nature of the Religious Life, the heart and its workings, good and evil. It is note-worthy that of the forty books comprising this work, thirty-seven deal with matters of experience and practice; of the others, Book One treats of Knowledge in general, Book Two treats of Dogma, and Book Forty deals with

¹ Ithâf, vol. i, p. 27.

² Bulaq, 1872.

Eschatology. Inasmuch as there are frequent references in Ayyuha 'l-Walad to the Iḥyâ', I give herewith the Table of Contents:

I. Things that Pertain to Worship

- 1. The Book of Knowledge
- 2. The Book of the Articles of Dogma
- 3. The Book of the Mysteries of Purity
- 4. The Book of the Mysteries of Prayer
- 5. The Book of the Mysteries of Almsgiving
- 6. The Book of the Mysteries of Fasting
- 7. The Book of the Mysteries of the Pilgrimage
- 8. The Book of the Ethics of Reading the Qur'an
- 9. The Book of Remembrances () and Invocations
- 10. The Book of the Night Watches

II. Things that Pertain to Practice

- 1. The Book of the Ethics of Eating
- 2. The Book of the Ethics of Marriage
- 3. The Book of the Ethics of Earnings and Livelihood
- 4. The Book of Things Allowed and Things Forbidden
- The Book of the Ethics of Friendship and Brotherhood and Companionship and Social Intercourse with Various Sorts of Mankind.
- 6. The Book of the Ethics of the Life of Seclusion
- 7. The Book of the Ethics of Travel
- 8. The Book of the Ethics of Music and Ecstasy
- 9. The Book of Enjoining Fairness and Forbidding Evil
- 10. The Book of the Ethics of Living as Exemplified in the Virtues of the Prophet

III. Things that Destroy the Soul

- 1. The Book of the Wonders of the Heart
- 2. The Book of the Discipline of the Soul and the Culture of Character and Treatment of the Sickness of the Heart
- The Book of Breaking the Two Desires: Appetite and Carnal Lust
- 4. The Book of the Evils of the Tongue
- 5. The Book of the Blameworthiness of Anger, Hatred and Envy
- 6. The Book of the Blameworthiness of the World
- The Book of the Blameworthiness of Greed and the Love of Wealth

- 8. The Book of the Blameworthiness of Worldly Dignity and Hypocrisy
- o. The Book of the Blameworthiness of Pride and Conceit
- 10. The Book of the Blameworthiness of Wordly Vanities

IV. Things that Deliver the Soul

- 1. The Book of Repentance
- 2. The Book of Patience and Praise
- 3. The Book of Fear and Hope
- 4. The Book of Poverty and Asceticism
- 5. The Book of the Unity of God and of Trust
- The Book of Love and Longing and Affability and Contentment
- 7. The Book of Good Intent and Sincerity and Veracity
- 8. The Book of Self-Examination and Self-Accounting
- o. The Book of Meditation
- 10. The Book of the Remembrance of Death and What Follows

B. THE WONDERS OF THE HEART 1

In the name of Allah the Compassionate, the Merciful—Praise be unto Allah,—without reaching comprehension of Whose majesty hearts and thoughts are perplexed, and at the beginning of the shedding of Whose light eyes and sight are confused—the subduer of the secrets of the hearts and the knower of the things hidden in the consciences, the one who in ordering his kingdom dispenses with advisers and assistants, the overturner of hearts, the forgiver of sins, the veiler of faults, and the dispeller of griefs; and blessing and abundant peace upon the lord of the Apostles, the unifier of the affairs of religion, and the destroyer of the circles of the apostates; and upon his family the good and pure.

The honor of man and his excellency in which he surpasses all varieties of created things consists in his aptitude for knowing Allah, praise be to Him, directly through personal experience, which in this world is his beauty and distinction and glory, and in the future is his equipment and his provision. And verily he prepares for this knowledge in his heart, not in any other of his members; and it is the heart which knows Allah and draws near to Allah and works for Allah, and strives towards Allah, and reveals what is with Allah and before Him; and verily the members are followers and servants and instruments which the heart employs and uses as a master uses his slave, and as a shepherd makes use of his sheep, and a workman his tool. The heart is the one received by Allah if it is made free from other than Allah, and it is the one curtained off by Allah if it becomes immersed in other than Allah;

---- 84 ---

and it is the one seeking and the one conversing and the one censuring.2 It is the heart which rejoices in nearness to Allah, and prospers if man purifies it, and it is the heart which is disappointed and miserable if he soils it and corrupts it. And when the heart is submissive in reality to Allah the Exalted, verily what acts of piety appear externally is due to its light; and when the heart is disobedient and rebels against Allah the Exalted, verily what evil deeds darken the members is due to its effect; and by its darkening and by its lightening there appear the virtues of the outer appearance, and its vices, since every vessel drips what is in it. It is the heart, which if a man knows, he knows himself, and if he knows himself, he knows his Lord; and it is the heart, of which if a man is ignorant, he is ignorant of himself, and if he is ignorant of himself he is ignorant of his Lord. And whoever is ignorant of his heart is even more ignorant of all else; since most of mankind are ignorant of their hearts and their souls, there is a device between them and their souls. Thus "Allah intervenes between a man and his heart," in such a way that He prevents him from seeing Him and considering Him and from the knowledge of His attributes and from perceiving how he is turned in and how at one time he falls to the lowest of vile things and he is degraded to the region of the devils, and how at another he is lifted up to the noblest of noble things and is raised to the world of the angels nearest (to Allah). And whoever does not know his heart so that he watch it and rule it and observe what shines upon it and in it from the treasures of the kingdom, then he is among those of whom Allah the Exalted said, "They have forgotten Allah, so I will cause them to forget themselves; they are the evil doers".4 And knowing the heart and the real nature of its qualities is the root of religion and the foundation of the way of the travelers.

And since we have completed the first part of this book, in the consideration of what happens externally in the way of pious acts and customs,—and this is the outer knowledge—and since we promised in the second part to explain what comes upon the heart of the qualities destructive and redeeming,—and this is the inner knowledge—it is unavoidable to offer on this matter two books: a book in explanation of the wonders of the qualities of the heart, and its innate dispositions, and a book on the way of disciplining the heart and training its innate dispositions; then after that we shall procede to the analysis of the destruc-

¹ Quarter Three of the Ihyâ', devoted to a consideration of things that Destroy the Soul, is introduced by a consideration of The Wonders of the Heart. I translate the Introdution and the first section of this book, because of the frequent references in Ayyuha'l-Walad, to the heart, the soul, the spirit and the intelligence, following the text printed in Bulaq (Cairo) 1872, and comparing it with the text in the Itha' of al-Sayyid Murtada, Cairo 131/1894.

² This last clause may in Arabic be read in either the active or the passive voice. MacDonald, Religious Attitude, p. 222, accepts the passive reading.

³ Qur'an 8:24.

⁴ Qur'an 59:19.

tive agencies and the redeeming agencies. And now we shall explain the wonders of the heart by way of comparisons, mentioning what will come close to causing understanding; for truly the clear explanation of the wonders of the heart and its secrets, which enter into the world of the kingdom,⁵ will weary the most understanding!

The Meaning of Soul and Spirit and Heart and Intelligence,6 and what is intended by these names

Know that these four names are used in these chapters, and there are few of the Savants in science who are fully masters of these words and the differences in their meanings, and their limitations and determinations; and the source of most of the mistakes is ignorance of the meaning of these names and of their sharing in a variety of meanings; so we shall explain concerning the meaning of these names whatever is connected with our purpose.

The first word, "heart", has two meanings: The first refers to the cone-shaped flesh placed in the left side of the chest; it is a special object with an interior cavity in which is dark blood and it is the fountain-head of the spirit and its source. But we do not intend now to explain its kind and condition since the purpose of the physician is connected with it, and not religious purposes. This heart is found in animals and even in the dead; and if we use the word "heart" in this book we do not mean by it that organ for it is a piece of flesh of no value and it is of the world of force7 and sensual perception, since the animals comprehend it through the sense of sight, let alone mankind. The second refers to the transcendental heart; and this subtlety is the essence of man and what comprehends and learns and knows; and this it is which speaks and opposes, censures and holds to account.8 It has a relationship with the physical heart; and the intelligences of most of mankind are puzzled in comprehending this relationship, since its relationship resembles the relationship of accidents to substances, and qualities to what they qualify, or the user of a tool to the tool or the thing placed to its position. And the explanation of this we guard against for two reasons: first, since it is connected with the speculative sciences and our purpose in this book is only the practical sciences: second, its demonstration demands the disclosing of the secret of the spirit, which is something concerning which the Apostle of Allah, Allah bless him and grant him peace, did not speak, and so no other should speak about it. And our purpose is, if we use the word "heart" in this book, to refer by it to this subtlety; and our object is to mention its qualities and states, not its reality in itself; and knowledge of the practical requires a knowledge of its qualities and states, and does not require a consideration of its reality.

The second word, "spirit", also, in what is connected with our purposes, is used in two senses: the first, a subtle substance whose source is the cavity of the physical heart and it spreads by means of the veins leading to all parts of the body; and its course in the body, and the spreading of the lights of life and touch and sight and hearing and smelling, from it to its members, resembles the spreading of the light of a lamp which is carried through the house, so that it does not reach any part of the house without that part being lighted by it. And the life is like the light spread within the walls; and the spirit is like the lamp; and the extending of the spirit and its movement within (the body) is like the movement of the lamp carried about inside the house. And when physicians use the word "spirit", they use it in this sense; it is a subtle vapour which the heat of the heart matures. And the explanation of this is not our purpose, since what is connected with it is the field of the physicians who treat the bodies; but the purpose of physicians of religion who treat the heart is to lead it into the vicinity of the Lord of the worlds, and their purpose is not connected with the explanation of this spirit, fundamentally. The second meaning is the knowing, perceiving subtlety in man, which we explained in one of the meanings of the heart, and this is what Allah the Exalted means in the saying, "Say, the spirit is my Lord's affair",9 and it is a miraculous transcendental affair, whose real nature most of the intelligent and understanding are unable to comprehend.

The third word, "soul", also has various meanings, of which two concern our purpose. The first is that it indicates the combination of the forces of anger and of fleshly appetite in man, as we shall explain; and this is the usage employed by the Sûfis, since they mean by "soul", the innate combination of the blameworthy qualities in man; and they say there is no escape from combatting the soul and breaking it. And pointing to this is the saying (of the Prophet), upon him be peace, "Thy greatest enemy is thy soul which is between thy two sides." 10



⁵ For an explanation of the three worlds of existence, in Ghazâli's philosophy, see MacDonald, Muslim Theology, pp. 134-136.

[.] عقل قاب روح نفس The Arabic words are

⁷ See footnote 5. 8 See footnote 2.

⁹ Qur'an 17:87.

¹⁰ I do not find the source of this traditional saying.

second meaning is the subtlety which we have mentioned, which is the man in reality, and it is the soul of man and his essence, but it is described in various ways according to the differences in its states. Thus if it becomes quiet and under control, and agitation vanishes from it by reason of opposition to the lusts, it is called "the tranquil soul"; Allah the Exalted said of such, "O thou tranquil soul, return unto thy Lord, well pleased, accepted."11 And the soul in the first meaning cannot be pictured as returning to Allah the Exalted, for it is far removed from Allah and is of the party of Satan. And if its tranquility is not complete, but it is struggling with the lustful soul, and opposing it, it is called "the upbraiding soul", for it upbraids its possessor for his shortcoming in worshipping its lord. Allah the Exalted said, "I will not swear by the upbraiding soul."12 But if it ceases to oppose and submits to and obeys the enticements of the lusts and the invitations of the Satan, it is called "the soul commanding to evil." Allah the Exalted reported concerning Joseph, upon whom be peace, and the wife of the Prince, "And I do not hold myself clear; verily the soul commands to evil."13 But it is possible that "the soul commanding to evil" refers to the soul in the first meaning. And thus the soul in the first sense is altogether blameworthy, and the soul in the second sense is praiseworthy, since it is the very man himself, or his essence and reality, which knows Allah the Exalted and all knowable things.

The fourth word, "intelligence", similarly has various meanings which we have mentioned in the book on "Knowledge"; and in connection with our purpose it has two meanings. First, it is used in the meaning of the knowledge of the true nature of things, and is an expression to describe knowledge, whose seat is the heart. Second, it is used in the meaning of that which apprehends knowledge, and that is the heart, I mean that subtlety (of which I have spoken). And we know that every learned man has in himself an existence, a fundamental element standing by itself, and knowledge is the quality found in it; and the quality is other than the thing qualified. And the intelligence means the quality of the learned one, and also the place of apprehension, I mean, the apprending mind. This latter is meant in the saying of the Apostle, Allah bless him and grant him peace, "The first thing God created was the intelligence."14 Knowledge is accidental; it is not conceivable it should be first of his creation; but it is necessary that the seat of knowledge (the intelligence) be created before it (knowledge) or with it, for converse with it (knowledge) is not possible. And it is reported that the Exalted said to it (the intelligence), "Draw near," and it drew near; and again, "Turn aside," and it turned aside—a tradition.15

Thus there is revealed to you that the meaning of these four words is known; that is, the physical heart, the physical spirit, the lustful soul, and knowledge of science; and these four expressions are used in these four meanings; and a fifth meaning is the knowing, comprehending subtlety in man, and the four expressions in their totality come to this meaning. So there are five meanings and four expressions, and each expression has two meanings.

And most of the 'Ulema' have become confused as to the differences between these expressions and the meaning common to them all; so you see them speaking about the thoughts and they say, This is the thought of the intelligence; and, This is the thought of the spirit; and, This is the thought of the heart; and, This is the thought of the soul; and the lookeron does not understand the difference in the meaning of these names. And in order to remove the cover we have offered the explanation of these names. And when there occurs in the Qur'an and in the Sunnah the expression "the heart", the meaning is: that in man which possesses intelligence and knows the true nature of things; and it is alluded to as "the heart" which is in the chest, because between that subtlety and that organ the heart, there is a special connection; and so, even if it (this subtlety) is connected with the other parts of the body, and used for them, yet it is connected with the body by means of the heart. So its first connection is with the heart; and it is as if the heart were its seat and its kingdom and its world and its riding animal. For this reason Sahl al-Tustari16 likened the heart to a throne and the chest to a seat and said, "The heart is a throne and the chest is a seat." And it is not meant by this that it is the throne of Allah and His seat, because that is absurd; but the meaning is that the heart is its (the subtlety's) kingdom and the first channel for its management and its free activity, and its relation to this subtlety is like the relation of the throne and seat to Allah the Exalted. And this comparison applies only in certain respects, and its explanation is not suitable for our purpose, so we pass it by.

¹¹ Qur'an 39:27.

¹² Qur'an 55:2.

¹⁴ I do not find the source of this saying. 13 Our'an 12:53.

¹⁵ S. M., vol. VII, p. 209, quotes the tradition in full: When Allah created the intelligence, He said to it, "Draw near," and it drew near; then He said, "Turn aside," and it turned aside; He said, "I have created nothing I love more than thee; with thee I take, and with thee I give."

¹⁶ Sahl b. 'Abdallah al-Tustari, a prominent Sûfi, d. 896.

C. THE "WAY" OF THE MOSLEM MYSTIC

Mysticism in Islam is known best today in the practices of the Dervish orders. As a matter of fact, while these are in truth the logical fruitage of the mystical way carried to an extreme, they no more display the essence and true nature of Moslem Mysticism than did the ecstatic utterances of the companies of the prophets manifest the true meaning of prophecy, 1 nor do the extravagancies of Christian Holy Rollers or Speakers with Tongues reveal the inner verities of Christian mysticism. 2 In fact, the Dervish orders arose in the years following the death of al-Ghazâli, and are no part of the life of the Moslem mystic of the early twelfth century. 3 Here I can only briefly outline the rise of Mysticism in Islâm sufficiently to form a background for an appreciation of the attitude of al-Ghazâli.

The stream of Mysticism has its springs in the ascetic movement which arose in Islâm before the close of the second century of Moslem history. Ibn Khaldûn describes its origin as follows:

The Way of the Sûfis4 was regarded by the ancient Moslems and their illustrious men—the Companions of the Prophet, the

Successors, and the generation which came from them—as the way of Truth and Salvation. To be assiduous in piety, to give up all ease for God's sake, to turn away from worldly gauds and vanities, to renounce pleasure, wealth, and power, which are the general objects of human ambition, to abandon society and to lead in seclusion a life devoted solely to the service of God—these were the fundamental principles of Sûfîism which prevailed among the Companions and the Moslems of old time. When, however, in the second generation and afterward worldly tastes became widely spread, and men no longer shrank from contamination, those who made piety their aim were distinguished by the title of Sûfis or Mutaşawwifa (aspirants to Sûfîism).5

Al-Hujwiri6 in his Kashf al-Mahjûb, mentions among the Şûfis of the second century A. H., Abu Hâshim, who is almost universally accounted the first Şûfi after the Companions, Followers, and succeeding generation, and who founded the first monastery for Şûfis, in Ramleh, Palestine; Ibrahîm b. Adhem, Da'ûd al-Țai, Fuḍayl b. 'Iyâd, Shaqîq, and Rabí'a the first woman saint of Islam, who died in Jerusalem. Ḥasan al-Buṣri (d. 728), who is quoted by al-Ghazâli in Ayyuha 'l-Walad, is an even earlier ascetic, and considered by many to be the founder of the movement from which Şûfîism developed.

In the third century A. H. there are four names which stand high among the Şûfis. There are Dhû 'l-Nûn al-Muṣri (d. 860), who is by many Şûfis considered the primary author of their formulated doctrines; al-Junayd (d. 910), who said, "We derived Şûfîism from fasting and taking leave of the world and breaking familiar ties and renouncing what men deem good"; al-Ḥullâj (d. 922); and al-Shibli (d. 945). To show the spread of Mysticism in the Moslem world, it is interesting to note that of these four men, the first was an Egyptian, the second was from Baghdâd, the third was of Zoroastrian descent, and the fourth from Khorasan.

The Mystic life in Islam as in other religions is described as a journey. The Mystic is a traveller (المالك) journeying along a path

¹ Cf. I Sam. 19:18 ff;

² But for an opposite opinion, see Nicholson, The Mystics of Islâm, p. 27.

³ Ibn Khaldûn, the great Arabic historian (d. 1406) in his discussion of the Sûfis, does not mention these orders at all, so even in his day they must have been comparatively unimportant.

⁴ The Arabic word used to designate the Mystics is Şûfi (غوني) probably derived from the word Şûf (مون) meaning wool, and referring to the woolen garments worn by the early ascetics. The derivation preferred by most Moslems is from Şafa' (مناء) etymology is unsound.

⁵ I have followed the translation of Nicholson, A Literary History of the Arabs, p. 229, who has used the Beyrout edition of 1900, vol. III, p. 85.

⁶ Abu 'l-Hasan 'Ali b. 'Uthmân b. 'Ali al-Ghaznawi al-Jullabi al-Hujwiri, d. 456/1064 or circa 465/1072, the author of Kashf al-Mahjûb, the most ancient and celebrated Persian treatise on Sûfiism.

⁷ Quoted in Nicholson's, A Literary History of the Arabs, p. 230.

which will lead ultimately to a condition in which the soul has thrown off entirely all thought of and interest in this present world, and has attained complete absorption (نام) in the reality of Allah. During the progress of the journey the soul passes through certain stages (مقامات) and states (احوال) The distinction between the two is explained thus: The stages are steps in the ascetic and ethical discipline of the soul, which are attained by the traveller, but are in such a relationship to each other that each stage must be fully mastered before the next higher is possible; the states are spiritual feelings and dispositions over which man has no control, a condition of joy or sorrow, elation or depression, which the heart of man attains through experience (lit. tasting without his volition to receive or repel them. Stages are permanent in nature; that is, one is always in one or another stage of the journey. But states are transient, coming and going, leaving the traveller ever eager to experience higher states.

Al-Hujwiri thus differentiates between the two:8

"Station" (the) denotes anyone's "standing" in the way of God, and his fulfillment of the obligations appertaining to that "station" and his keeping it until he comprehends its perfection so far as lies in a man's power. It is not possible that he should quit his "station" without fulfilling the obligations thereof. Thus, the first "station" is repentance (tawbat), then comes conversion (inabat), then renunciation (zuhd), then trust in God (tawakkul), and so on: it is not permissible that anyone should pretend to conversion without repentance, or to renunciation without conversion, or to trust in God without renunciation.

"State" (حال) on the other hand, is something that descends from God into a man's heart, without his being able to repel it when it comes, or to attract it when it goes, by his own effort. Accordingly, while the term "station" denotes the way of the seeker, and his progress in the field of exertion, and his rank

before God in proportion to his merit, the term "state" denotes the favour and grace which God bestows upon the heart of His servant, and which are not connected with any mortification on the latter's part. "Station" belongs to the category of acts, "state" to the category of gifts. Hence the man that has a "station" stands by his own self-mortification, whereas the man that has a "state" is dead to "self" and stands by a "state" which God creates in him.

Since the Way of the Mystic is personal and individual, it follows that no two Sûfis ever travel through identical experiences. For this reason various Sûfis, in mentioning the stages and states through which the soul passes, disagree widely in detail. As an example of one of the best known systems, I mention that of al-Sarrâj⁹ who in his Kitâb al-Luma' discusses the following seven stages:

- 1. repentance
- 2. abstinence
- 3. renunciation
- 4. povertv
- 5. patience
- 6. trust in God
- 7. satisfaction

He also lists ten states which fall upon the traveller:

- 1. meditation
- 2. nearness to God
- 3. love
- 4. fear
- 5. hope
- 6. longing
- 7. intimacy
- 3. tranquility
- o. contemplation
- 10. certainty

⁸ Kash al-Mahjûb. I quote the translation of Nicholson, p. 181.

⁹ Abu Naşr 'Abdallah b. 'Ali al-Sarrâj al-Tusi, d. 378/988. The Kitâb al-Luma' fi '1-Taşawwuf, translated by R. A. Nicholson, London, 1914, is perhaps the earliest book on Sûffism.

Gairdner¹⁰ mentions seven stages in terms of the condition of the soul in each, as follows:

- 1. The Soul Deprayed
- 2. The Soul Accusatory
- 3. The Soul Inspired
- 4. The Soul Tranquil
- The Soul God-satisfied
- 6. The Soul God-satisfying
- 7. The Soul Clarified and Pure.

Since the States come as the direct gift of God, they are more highly prized, and accounted more noble than either knowledge or attaining the stages. Thus al-Ghazâli ¹¹ writes of the Şûfis:

It became plain to me that it was impossible to arrive at the most important of their special qualities through instruction, but only through experience, and state, and change in personal qualities; and what a difference there is between one's knowing the definition of health and of satiety and their causes and conditions, and his being in health and satisfied and the physician when he is ill knows the definition of health and its causes and its remedies, although he is lacking in health. And so also is the distinction between your knowing the fact of selfrestraint and its conditions and causes, and being yourself selfcontrolled, and cutting off your soul from the world! And I knew right well that they were lords of states, not masters of words, and that one could not attain this by the method of knowledge, or I would have attained it: and that there remained nothing except what could not be secured through hearing and knowledge, but (only) through experience and practice.

Similarly Ibn al-'Arabi12 said, in discussing knowledge:

Knowledge is of three grades: first, rational, any knowledge axiomatic or as a consequence of consideration of a proof.....; second, knowledge of States, to which there is no access except by experience, and the intellectual man cannot find it nor establish a proof of his cognizance (ma'rifah مرة) of it; like

the sweetness of honey and the bitterness of aloe and the enjoyment of sexual intercourse and emotion and longing—these are demonstrations which no one can know unless he has qualified in them and experienced them.

He then adds as the third degree of knowledge, knowledge of the secrets, which is above the realm of intelligence and the peculiar property of prophets and saints.

The ideal before the traveller, in completely organized Sûfîism, is to accomplish the various Stages of the Mystic way and to taste and experience the various States until he attain the highest condition of all, described variously as vanishing away (وجد), ecstacy (وجد), hearing (وجد), passion (عدر), union (وجد), and so forth, in which the traveller ceases to be a seeker (عال) and becomes a knower or gnostic (عارف). In this state the Sûfî has cast off all worldly limitations and loses himself completely in contemplation of God, the ultimate verity. It is when this State is experienced that many Sûfîs feel that ceremonial requirements, prayers and worship, and so forth, are no longer binding on them, and there occur those "ecstatic utterances" and "vehement cries" and "idle sayings" which al-Ghazâli condemns.13

Among Sûfis themselves there is difference of opinion as to whether this condition is to be considered also a transitory state, or a permanent attainment, the majority holding the former view. The nature of these utterances may be known from the following more famous sayings:

```
al-Bistâmi (d. 875): Praise be to me!
al-Hallâj (d. 922): I am the Truth!
al-Shibli (d. 945): I am the diacritical point under the letter ba'
Khoragâni (d. 1034): I am only two years younger than God!
Ibn abi 7-Khayr (d. 1048): Under my robe there is only God!
```

Often, however, these cries were utterly unintelligible sounds and exclamations, which were considered by the orthodox theologians and traditionalists as even more scandalous than intelligible, though blasphemous, sayings. Ibn-Khaldûn14 suggests four criteria for judging them: First, if uttered by people of known goodness, they should not be

¹⁰ The "Way" of a Mohammedan Mystic, p. 245.

¹¹ al-Munqidh min al-Dalâl, p. 27.

¹² Muḥiyyu 'l-Dîn Muḥammed b. 'Ali Ibn al-'Arabi, born in Spain, died in Damascus in 1240, called "al-Shaykh al-Akbar" (the Grand Old Man), one of the greatest of all Moslem philosophers and Mystics. The quotation is made by the Sayyid Murtada, in his Ithat, v. III, p. 245.

¹³ Section XVI Translation.

¹⁴ See footnote 3.

blamed for uttering when in ecstasy what in others would be unsuitable. Second, if they are not people of known goodness, their utterances are subject to doubt. Third, if they are people who use such language when not in ecstasy, they are certainly to be held to account. And finally, he asserts that all such utterances are on the whole undesirable and should be suppressed.

It is a long journey which Mysticism in Islam has travelled. When carried to the extreme, it leads to extravagancies and vagaries in both life and doctrine. But the early Mystics were men of ascetic piety who sought, through fasting, prayer, and renouncing what men thought good, to take leave of the world and attain to a nearness to God—the goal of the sincerely religious man in every land and nation.

II. CHRONOLOGICAL TABLE

Ghazâli

Europe

Islam
Seljuks capture
Merv and Naysabur
429

Seljûks capture Balkh 432

Tughril Bey enters Bagdad, Buwayhid dynasty falls 447 al-Mustanzir in Egypt, 427-487

450/1058 Born in Tûs

al-Qâ'im, Khalifa

Philip in France 1060

Arp-Arslan succeeds Tughril;

Nizâm al-Mulk Wazîr and real ruler; al-Țabari d.

455/

Imâm al-Ḥaramayn returns from exile, 456

Battle of Hastings 1066

— 97 —

	Ghazâli	Europe	lslâm
465/	at Tûs, studied under al-Radkhâni	v	Malik Shah, Great Seljûk; al-Qushairi d.
	at Turjan, studied under the Imâm Abu Nașr al-Isma'îli	Submission of	
	returned to Tûs	pope at Canossa, 1076	
470/	at Naysabur, under Imâm al-Ḥaramayn; broke with taqlîd	,	
	period of critical uncertainty		
475/	went to court of	Hildebrand d. 1085	al-Farmadi, pupil of uncle of Ghazâli and his teacher, d. 477
	Nizâm al-Mulk, after death of Imâm al-Ḥaramayn	Capture of Toledo, 1086	Imâm al-Ḥaramayn d. 478
480/1087		Battle of al-Zalaqa, 1087	
		Malta taken by Normans, 1090	al-Hasan b. Şabbâḥ captures Alamut,
	teacher in Baghdâd, 483-487		483
485/	studied theology		Nizâm al-Mulk and Malik Shah assassinated
	studied philosophy		t t

	Ghazâli	Europe	Islâm
-	studied Bâṭiniy- yah sects		Bargiyaruq, Great Seljûk; al-Mus- tazhir Khalîfa
	studied Şûfîism		al-Musta'li in Egypt 487
	left Baghdâd 488/1096		al-Bakri d. 487 Fakhr al-Mulk, Wazîr
490/	ten years retreat	Antioch captured by Crusaders	
	in Syria two years taught in Damascus	Jerusalem, taken from Fatimias by Seljûks,	Sinjar governor of Khurasan for Bargiyaruq
	visited Alexan- dria, Cairo, etc.	captured by Crusaders in 1099	al-Amîr in Egypt,
495/	returned to Baghdâd	, <u></u>	495
	returned to active life, taught in Naysabur 499	Anselm d. 1109 Tripoli captured by Crusaders	Bargiyaruq d. 498, Sinjar Great Sel- jûk, Fakhr al-Mulk Wazîr, in Nay sabur
500/	returned to Tûs,		Fakhr-ul-Mulk assassinated, 500
	restudied ḥadîth		al-Kîya died 504
505/11	11 died in Tús	•	
510/	, , · · · • •	Abelard in Paris 1115 Knights Templar	
515/		founded in 1118	

III. TABLE OF ABBREVIATIONS

all others a.o. after a.

A. D. Anno Domini, Christian era A. H. Anno Hijira, Moslem era

b. before

c., cc. chapter, chapters

cf. compare corr'd. corrected corr'n. correction d.

died

dist. text disturbed, blurred, or indistinct

f., ff. following

gJ. gloss

JAOS Journal of the American Oriental Society JRAS Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society

homoeoteleuton hom.

insert(s) ins.

intra. intralinear, intralineally

1., Il. line, lines lit. literally

margin, marginal(ly) mg.

MS., MSS. manuscript, manuscripts obs. obscure omit(s), omitted om. original(ly) orig. page, pages p., pp. pl. plural prefix(es) pref. probable, probably prob. read(s), reading rd., rding. repeat(s) rep. Sayyid Murtada, Ithaf Al-Sadah S. M. sublinear, sublineally subl. supralinear, supralineally supral. transpose(s), transposition tr. translinear, translineally transl. volume, volumes v., vv., variant(s) var. with text w. t. words w., ww. implied by text or interjected by the translator () glosses added to text [] added from text of other MSS. { }

Dates are frequently referred to in both the Moslem and Christian eras, thus: 505/1111, in which the date in the Moslem era is given first.

Books listed in the Bibliography are referred to by the name of the author, or the name of the author and letters indicating a particular work of several by him, thus: Macdonald, JAOS.

IV. CROSS-REFERENCE KEY TO THE ARABIC TEXT AND THE TRANSLATION

The Arabic Text
f. 92b. l. 1
f. 92b. l. 15
f. 93a. l. 2
f. 93a. l. 5
f. 93a. l. 13
f. 93b. l. 12
f. 94a. l. 2
f. 94a. l. 6
f. 94a. l. 7
f. 94a. l. 13
f. 94a. l. 15
f. 94b. l. 4
f. 94b. l. 8
f. 94b. l. 15
f. 94b. l. 19
f. 95a. l. 4
f. 95a. l. 14
f. 95b. l. 4
f. 96a. l. 17
f. 97a. l. 5
f. 97a. l. 6
f. 97a. l. 10
f. 97a. l. 12
f. 99a. l. 3
f. 99a. l. 12

— 103 —

V. BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. General Works

The Encyclopedia of Islam: A Dictionary of the Geography, Ethnography, and Biography of the Muhammedan Peoples, prepared by a number of leading Orientalists. Leyden. 1913.

Ali, Syed Amir. The Spirit of Islam. London. 1923.

Arnold, Thomas and Guillaume, Alfred, editors. The Legacy of Islam.
Oxford. 1931.

Brockelmann, Carl. Geschichte der arabischen Litteratur, 2 vols. 1898, 1902.

Browne, Edward G. A Literary History of Persia. 2 vols. London. 1920.

Graffin, R., and Nau, F. Patrologia Orientalis—vol. XIII, pp. 327-431, Logia et Agrapha Domini Jesu apud Moslemicos Scriptores, Asceticos Praesertim, Usitata Collegit, Vertit, Notis Instruxit.—vol. XIX, pp. 529—624, ibid. Paris. 1923.

Huart, Clement. A History of Arab Literature. London. 1903.

Hughes, Thomas Patrick. A Dictionary of Islam. New York. 1885.

Hughes, T. P. Notes on Muhammadanism. London. 1894.

Jung, Eugene. L'Islam et L'Asie. Paris 1927.

Lammens, H. L'Islam. Beyrut. 1926.

Landrieus, Maurice. L'Islam. Paris. 1913.

Lane, Edward William. The Thousand and One Nights. 3 vols. London. 1889.

Lane, Edward William. An Account of the Manners and Customs of the Modern Egyptians. 3 vols. London. 1837.

Nicholson, R. A. A Literary History of the Arabs. London. 1914.

2. History and Biography.

Arnold, Sir. Thos. W. The Caliphate. Oxford. 1924.
Bell, Richard. The Origin of Islam in its Christian Environment.
London. 1926.

Hell, Joseph. The Arab Civilization. Cambridge. 1926.

Ibn Khalikân, Shams al-Dîn Aḥmad. Biographical Dictionary, translated by MacGuickin de Slane, 4 vols. Paris. 1834.

Lane-Poole, Stanley. The Mohammadan Dynasties. Westminster. 1893.

Muir, Sir William. The Caliphate, its Rise, Decline and Fall.

London. 1892.

Nöldeke, Theodor. Sketches from Eastern History. London. 1892.

Walter, H. A. The Ahmadiya Movement. Oxford. 1918.

Weil, Gustav. A History of the Islamic Peoples. Calcutta. 1914.
Wilson, Samuel G. Modern Movements Among Moslems. New
York. 1916.

3. Mohammed, the Qur'an, and Tradition.

Fluegel, Gustavus. Corani Textus Arabicus. Leipsig. 1858.
Fluegel, Gustavus. Concordantiae Corani Arabicae. Leipsig. 1898.
Ibn Hanbal, Ahmad. Al-Musnad, 6 vols. Cairo. A.H. 1313.
Muir, Sir William. The Life of Mohammed. Edinburgh. 1912.
Muir, Sir William. Mahomet and Islam. New York, N. D.
Rodwell, J. M. The Koran, translated from the Arabic. London.

Sale, George. The Koran, 2 vols. London. 1825.

Shâh, Ahmad. Miftâhul Qur'ân. Benares. 1906.

al-Tibrîzi, Moh. b. 'Abd-allah al-Khaţîb. Mishcat ul-Maşâbiḥ, translated by A. N. Matthews. Calcutta. 1809.

Wensnick, A. J. A Handbook of Early Muhammadan Tradition. Leiden. 1927.

Zamakhshâri, Abu 'l-Qâsim. Al-Kashshâf 'an Ḥaqâ'iq al-Tanzîl, edited by W. Nassau Lees. Calcutta. 1856.

4. Theology, Philosophy and Mysticism.

de Boer, T. J. History of Philosophy in Islam. London. 1903.

Dugat, Gustave. Histoire des Philosophes et des Theologiens Musulmans. Paris. 1878.

Field, Claud. Mystics and Saints of Islam. London. 1910.

Gairdner, W. H. T. The "Way" of a Mohammedan Mystic. The Moslem World. New York. 1912.

Al-Hujwiri, 'Ali b. 'Uthmân al-Jullabi. Kashf al-Maḥjûb, translated by R. A. Nicholson. London. 1911.

O'Leary, de Lacy. Arabic Thought and its Place in History. London. 1922.

Macdonald, D. B. Aspects of Islam. New York. 1911.

Macdonald, D. B. Development of Muslim Theology, Jurisprudence, and Constitutional Theory. New York. 1903.

Macdonald, D. B. The Religious Attitude and Life in Islam. Chicago. 1912.

Margoliouth, D. S. The Early Development of Mohammedanism. London. 1914.

Massignon, Louis. Essai sur les origines du lexique technique de la mystique musulmane. Paris. 1922.

Nicholson, R. A. Studies in Islamic Mysticism. Cambridge. 1921.

Servier, Andre. Islam and the Psychology of the Musulman.

London. 1924.

Smith, Margaret. Studies in Early Mysticism in the Near and Middle East. London. 1931.

Swan, George. An Outline for the Study of Dervishism. Cairo. 1925.

5. Lexicons and Dictionaries.

Badger, George Percy. An English-Arabic Dictionary. London. 1881.

Bustany, Butros al-. Muḥîț al-Muḥîț. Beirut. 1870.

Fagnan, Edmond. Additions aux dictionnaires arabes. Alger. 1923. Freytag, George W. F. Lexicon Arabico-latinum. Halis Saxonum. 1830-1837.

Hava, J. G. An Arabic-English Dictionary. Beyrut. 1899. Kazamirski, A. de B. Dictionaire Arabe-Français. Paris. 1846.

- Lane, Edward William. An Arabic-English Lexicon, VII Parts, London. 1863.
- Penrice, John. A Dictionary and Glossary of the Koran. London, 1873.
- Sayyid Murtaḍa. Sharḥ al-Qâmûs al-Musamma Tâj al-'Arûs. Miṣr. A.H. 1306.
- Sprenger, A., and Lees, W. Nassau. A Dictionary of the Technical Terms. Calcutta. 1862.
- Wahrmund, Adolph. Handwörterbuch der neurabischen und deutschen Sprache. Giessen. 1898.
- Wilkins, Chas. A Vocabulary, Persian, Arabic and English. London. 1810.
- Wortabet, Wm. Thomson. Arabic-English Dictionary. Beyrout, 1893.
 - 6. Al-Ghazâli, Biographical Material.
- Gardner, W. R. W. Al-Ghazâli. Madras. 1919.
- Macdonald, D. B. Al-Ghazâli, in Enc. Islam, vol. I, pp. 146 ff. Leyden. 1913.
- Macdonald, D. B. The Life of Ghazzâli. JAOS, pp. 71-132. 1899. Mubârak, Zaki. Al-akhlâq 'and al-Ghazâli. Cairo. 1924.
- Obermann, J. Der philosophische und religiose subjektivismus Ghazâlis. Wein-Leipsig. 1921.
- Şabri al-Kurdi, Muḥi al-Dîn. Mi'yâr al-'ilm fî fan al-manţiq. Cairo, A.H. 1320.
- Zwemer, Samuel. A Moslem Seeker after God. New York. 1920,
 - 7. Al-Ghazâli, Published Writings in Arabic.
- Sayyid Murtada. Ithâf al-Sâda al-Muttaqîn. Cairo. A.H. 1311, vols. X.
- al-Ghazâli. Badâyat al-Hidâya. Cairo. A.H. 1306. Fâtihat al-'Ulûm. Cairo. A.H. 1322. Kîmiya al-Sa'âdah. Cairo. A.H. 1343. Kitâb Iḥyâ' 'ulûm al-dîn. Bulaq. 1872. Mi'râj al-Sâlikîn. Cairo. 1924. Mîzân al-'Amal. Cairo. A.H. 1342. Al-Munqidh min al-Dalâl. Cairo, n. d.

8. Al-Ghazâli, Translations of His Writings.

- Calverley. Iḥyâ', Quarter I. Book 4, on "Worship in Islam."

 Madras. 1925.
- DeMaynard, M. C. Barbier. Le Preservatif de l'erreur. Journal Asiatique, serie 7, vol. 9, Jan. 1877, pp. 5-93.
- Field, Claude. Alchemy of Happiness. London. 1908.
- Gairdner, W. H. T. Mishkât al-Anwâr. London. 1924.
- Hammer-Purgstall. O Kind. Wien. 1838.
- Horne, Chas. F. The Rescuer from Error, in vol. VI, pp. 102-133, in "Sacred Books and Early Literature of the East." London. 1917.
- Macdonald, G. B. Ihyâ', Quarter II, Book 8, on "The Laws of Listening to Music, etc." JRAS, London. 1901. pp. 195 ff., 705 ff.; 1902, pp. 1 ff.